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Explanatory Note
On November 14, 2019, Roku, Inc. filed a Current Report on Form8-K (the “Original Form 8-K”), reporting, among other items, that on November
8, 2019, through our wholly-owned subsidiary Delaware Acquisition Company, Inc., we consummated the previously announced acquisition of Dataxu,
Inc., a Delaware corporation, pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated October 22, 2019, as amended on November 8, 2019 (the “Merger”). This
Amendment No. 1 to Current Report on Form 8-K amends the Original Form 8-K to provide (i) the historical financial statements of Dataxu, Inc. and (ii) the
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information required by Items 9.01(a) and 9.01(b) of Current Report on Form 8-K, respectively. Such
financial information was excluded from the Original Form 8-K in reliance on the instructions to such items. This Amendment No. 1 to Current Report on
Form 8-K further amends Items 2.01 and 3.02 to lower the number of shares of Class A common stock issued to the former Dataxu securityholders from
571,516 shares to 571,459 shares due to the elimination of fractional shares.

Item 2.01.

Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets

Upon the closing of the Merger, we issued 571,459 shares of our Class A common stock to the former Dataxu securityholders.
Item 3.02.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

The information set forth in Item 2.01 of this Amendment No. 1 to Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated by reference into this Item 3.02.
Item 9.01.

Financial Statements and Exhibits

(a) Financial Statements of Business Acquired.
The audited financial statements of Dataxu, Inc. as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and for the three years ended December 31, 2018 are filed
herewith as Exhibit 99.1, and are incorporated herein by reference. The unaudited financial statements of Dataxu, Inc. as of September 30, 2019 and for the
nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 are filed herewith as Exhibit 99.2, and are incorporated herein by reference. The consent of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Dataxu, Inc.’s independent auditor, is attached as Exhibit 23.1 to this Amendment No. 1 to Current Report on Form 8-K/A.
(b) Pro Forma Financial Information.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet gives effect to the acquisition as if it had occurred on September 30, 2019. The unaudited
pro forma condensed combined statements of operations each give effect to the acquisition as if it had occurred on January 1, 2018 (the first day of Roku’s
year ended December 31, 2018). The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information of Roku, Inc. as of September 30, 2019 and for the
nine months ended September 30, 2019, and the year ended December 31, 2018 are filed herewith as Exhibit 99.3, and are incorporated herein by reference.
(d) Exhibits
Exhibit

Description

2.1(1)

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 22, 2019, by and among Roku, Inc., Delaware Acquisition Company, Inc., Dataxu, Inc. and
Shareholder Representative Services LLC, as Stockholder Representative and Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated
November 8, 2019, by and among Roku, Inc., Delaware Acquisition Company, Inc., Dataxu, Inc. and Shareholder Representative Services
LLC, as Stockholder Representative.

23.1

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Dataxu, Inc.’s independent auditor.

99.1

Audited financial statements of Dataxu, Inc. as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and for the three years ended December 31, 2018.

99.2

Unaudited financial statements of Dataxu, Inc. as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018.

99.3

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information of Roku, Inc. as of September 30, 2019 and for the nine months ended
September 30, 2019, and the year ended December 31, 2018.

104

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

(1)

Previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to our Current Report on Form8-K (File No. 001-38211) filed with the Securites and Exchange Commission on
November 14, 2019, and incorporated by reference herein. We have omitted schedules and similar attachments to the subject agreement pursuant to
Item 601 of Regulation S-K. We will furnish a copy of any omitted schedule or similar attachment to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon
request.

SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
hereunto duly authorized.
Roku, Inc.
Dated: November 18, 2019

By: /s/ Steve Louden
Steve Louden
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-230204) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-220701, 333223379 and 333-230039) of Roku, Inc. of our report dated May 1, 2019, except for the change in the manner in which the Company accounts for restricted
cash discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, as to which the date is November 18, 2019, relating to the financial statements of Dataxu,
Inc., which appears in this Amendment No. 1 to Current Report on Form 8-K.
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, MA
November 18, 2019
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Report of Independent Auditors
To Management of DataXu, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of DataXu, Inc. and its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets
as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income, of redeemable convertible
preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit, and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of DataXu, Inc. and its
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2018 in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Emphasis of Matter
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in
Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has incurred recurring losses from operations since inception, has an accumulated deficit, will
require additional financing to fund future operations, and has stated that substantial doubt exists about the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Management’s evaluation of the events and conditions and management’s plans regarding these matters are also described in Note 1. The
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not modified with
respect to this matter.
Additionally, as discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for restricted cash in
2019. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
May 1, 2019, except for the change in the manner in which the Company accounts for restricted cash discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, as to which the date is November 18, 2019
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, www.pwc.com/us
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DataXu, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2018 and 2017
In 000’s, except for number of shares and par value

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $573 and $554 and $1,039 at December 31, 2018 and 2017
and 2016, respectively
Current portion of restricted cash
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Capitalized software development costs, net
Restricted cash, net of current portion
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Current portion of deferred rent
Line of credit
Convertible debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Line of credit
Deferred rent
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value -111,301,589 shares authorized; 110,974,696 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017 (liquidation value of $99,206 at December 31, 2018)
Stockholders’ deficit
Series C-1 convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value -2,903,027 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding
Common stock, $0.001 par value - 200,785,577 shares authorized; 33,457,325 and 31,352,614 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ deficit
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
2

2018

2017

$ 21,313

$ 22,506

53,741
264
3,209
78,527
4,841
11,967
1,453
9,457
512
$ 106,757

57,926
—
1,798
82,230
1,338
8,775
1,622
9,457
941
$ 104,363

$ 34,993
23,625
738
381
30,482
8,037
98,256

$ 28,665
18,712
1,424
—
—
7,375
56,176

—
3,375
101,631

28,716
13
84,905

100,417

100,364

—

—

33
31
24,735
21,577
(120,058) (102,403)
(1)
(111)
(95,291)
(80,906)
$ 106,757 $ 104,363
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DataXu, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income
Years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
In 000’s

Revenue
Cost and operating expenses
Cost of revenue
Selling and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total cost and operating expenses
Operating (loss) income
Other expense
Interest expense, net
Other expense, net
Total other expense, net
Loss before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss
Other comprehensive gain (loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Comprehensive (loss) income

2018

2017

2016

$142,799

$141,802

$205,522

96,514
31,811
15,616
12,501
156,442
(13,643)

97,639
30,230
16,631
11,808
156,308
(14,506)

(2,956)
(773)
(3,729)
(17,372)
283
(17,655)

(2,035)
1,274
(761)
(15,267)
211
(15,478)

110
(188)
$ (17,545) $ (15,666) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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136,905
34,882
17,797
12,730
202,314
3,208
(2,353)
(989)
(3,342)
(134)
19
(153)
359
206
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DataXu, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit
Years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
In 000’s, except for number of shares
Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock
Shares
Amount

Balances at December 31, 2015
Issuance of Series F redeemable
convertible preferred stock
Exercise of stock options
Exercise of series A warrant
Cash settlement of Mexad equity
award
Stock-based compensation
Accretion of preferred stock issuance
costs
Accumulated other comprehensive
income
Net loss
Balances at December 31, 2016
Exercise of stock options
Exercise of Series A preferred stock
warrants
Stock-based compensation
Accretion of preferred stock issuance
costs
Accumulated other comprehensive
loss
Net loss
Balances at December 31, 2017
Exercise of stock options
Stock-based compensation
Accretion of preferred stock issuance
costs
Accumulated other comprehensive
income
Net loss
Balances at December 31, 2018

Common Stock
Additional Paid-in
Shares
Amount
Capital

104,767,897 $ 88,798 29,299,285 $
5,019,639

10,000

118,857

149

1,286,159

29 $
1

102

15,679

Accumulated
Deficit

$

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

(86,772) $

Total Stockholders’
Deficit

(282) $

571

572

(509)
2,769

(509)
2,769

(102)

(102)
359

109,906,393
1,068,303

99,049 30,585,444
767,170

30
1

18,408
263

(153)
(86,925)

77

359
(153)
(68,410)
264

1,250
2,971
65

2,971

(65)

(65)
(188)

110,974,696

(71,346)

100,364 31,352,614
2,104,711

31
2

53

21,577
497
2,714

(15,478)
(102,403)

(111)

(53)

(53)
110

110,974,696 $100,417 33,457,325 $

33 $

24,735

(17,655)
$ (120,058) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(188)
(15,478)
(80,906)
499
2,714

(1) $

110
(17,655)
(95,291)
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DataXu, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
In 000’s
2018

Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Bad debt expense
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrant liability
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment
Non-cash interest expense
Deferred rent
Unrealized foreign currency translations
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other
Deferred revenue
Other assets
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Capitalization of software development costs
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Proceeds from line of credit
Payment on line of credit
Payment of term loan
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debt
Proceeds from exercise of Series A preferred stock warrants
Cash settlement related to Mexad Acquisition
Proceeds from issuance of Series F redeemable convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rates on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
(Decrease)/Increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Beginning of year
End of year
Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Supplemental noncash financing activities
Accretion of preferred stock issuance costs
Conversion of Series A preferred stock warrant liability to equity upon exercise
Noncash purchases of property and equipment
Fair value of liability for redemption feature associated with the issuance of convertible debt
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2017

2016

$(17,655) $(15,478) $

(153)

4,598
2,714
634
—
(27)
729
3,743
(373)

2,932
2,971
(85)
(299)
38
56
(284)
(1,055)

1,942
2,769
199
137
—
170
(212)
808

3,286
(1,460)
4,936
4,885
(686)
429
5,753

22,814
4,048
(911)
(6,175)
676
128
9,377

12,543
(855)
(6,209)
58
(103)
(610)
10,484

(6,973)
(2,626)
(9,599)

(6,055)
(787)
(6,842)

(4,387)
(632)
(5,019)

499
2,000
(233)
—
—
—
—
—
2,266
482
(1,098)

264
—
(7,778)
—
7,458
25
—
—
(31)
142
2,646

572
36,493
(30,000)
(15,949)
—
—
(509)
10,000
607
(224)
5,848

24,128
$ 23,030

21,482
$ 24,128

15,634
$ 21,482

$ 1,992
48

$ 1,733
46

$ 2,197
41

$

$

$

53
—
1,682
—

65
1,225
—
139

102
149
—
—
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DataXu, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
In 000’s, except for number of shares and par value
1.

Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation
DataXu, Inc. (the “Company” or “DataXu”) was incorporated in Delaware on August 3, 2007. The Company develops and delivers a suite of cloudbased marketing applications that leverage big data to enable brands and their agencies to better understand and engage their customers. With sixteen
offices in ten countries, DataXu works with businesses across the globe to improve the return on their digital marketing investments.
The Company is subject to a number of risks similar to companies in the industry that could affect future operations and financial performance. These
risks include, but are not limited to, rapid technological change, competitive pressure from substitute products or larger companies, protection of
proprietary technology, customer concentration, the need to obtain additional financing to support growth, and dependence on third parties and key
individuals.
The Company evaluated whether conditions or events raise substantial doubt about its ability to meet its future financial obligations as they become
due within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. The Company did not take into consideration the potential mitigating effects
of plans that have not been fully implemented as of the date the financial statements were issued. As of December 31, 2018, the Company had an
accumulated deficit of $120,058, cash and cash equivalents of $21,313, convertible debt repayment due of $8,037 with portions currently due in April
and May 2019, and a line of credit repayment of $30,482 due in March 2020 (Notes 6 and 7). The Company had insufficient funds to repay these
balances at this time, which raised substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. On October 22, 2019, the Company
entered into a Merger Agreement with Roku, Inc. and as part of the agreement, the line of credit and the convertible debt were repaid in full as part of
the closing proceeds on November 8, 2019. Refer to Note 13 for additional information. The accompanying financial statements do not include any
adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities that may
result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates relied upon in preparing these financial statements include, but are not limited
to, revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, capitalized software development costs, the fair value of equity awards and certain accrued
expenses.
6
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DataXu, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
In 000’s, except for number of shares and par value
Foreign Currency Translation
The functional currency of the Company’s foreign operations is the local country’s currency. Consequently, the results of operations outside the
United States are translated into U.S. dollars using average exchange rates for the period reported, while assets and liabilities of operations outside the
United States are translated into U.S. dollars using end-of-period exchange rates. Foreign currency translation adjustments are included in
stockholders’ equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Foreign
currency transaction (losses) gains included in other expense for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $(1,054) and $818 and
($784), respectively.
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash
Cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments maturing within 90 days from the date of purchase. Cash equivalents consist of money market
funds as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had irrevocable letters of credit outstanding with
financial institutions, secured by money market funds, for facilities leases.
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash consist of the following:

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Total

2018

2017

2016

2015

$ 21,313
1,717
$ 23,030

$ 22,506
1,622
$ 24,128

$ 21,038
444
$ 21,482

$ 15,103
531
$ 15,634

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. When assets are retired or
disposed of, the assets and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in the
determination of net income or loss. Computers and equipment, purchased software, and furniture and fixtures are depreciated using the straight-line
method and an estimated useful life of three years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the asset
life or remaining term of the lease.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The Company records goodwill when the consideration paid in a business acquisition exceeds the fair value of the net tangible assets acquired,
identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized.
The Company assesses goodwill for impairment, using either a quantitative or qualitative test, annually on October 1 of each year or more frequently
when events and circumstances occur indicating that the recorded goodwill may be impaired. If the book value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair
value, the implied fair value of goodwill is compared with the carrying amount of goodwill. If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the implied
fair value, an impairment loss is recorded equal to that excess. The Company considers the following factors that could trigger an impairment review:
significant underperformance relative to historical or projected operating results, significant changes in the Company’s use of the acquired assets in a
business combination or the strategy for its overall business, and significant negative industry or economic trends.
7
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DataXu, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
In 000’s, except for number of shares and par value
Long-lived assets include property and equipment and capitalized software development costs. The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for
recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be recoverable. The Company considers the
following factors in deciding when to perform an impairment review: significant underperformance of the business in relation to expectations,
significant negative industry or economic trends and significant changes or planned changes in the use of the assets. To evaluate a long-lived asset for
recoverability, the Company compares forecasts of undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the long-lived
asset to its carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds the sum of the expected undiscounted cash flows, an impairment loss on the long-lived asset to
be held and used is recognized based on the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value, determined based on discounted cash flows.
No events or changes in circumstances existed to require an impairment assessment during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.
Concentrations of Credit Risk and Significant Customers
Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash, and accounts receivables. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash primarily with one financial institution that
management believes to be of high-credit quality. At times, the deposits with this financial institution may exceed federally insured limits. Accounts
receivable are carried at the original invoice amount, less an estimate for doubtful accounts. Management determines the allowance for doubtful
accounts by evaluating individual customer receivables and considering a customer’s financial condition, credit history, and current economic
conditions. To date, losses resulting from uncollected receivables have not exceeded management’s expectations.
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, one customer accounted for 16% and 12%, respectively, of total accounts receivable.
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, one customer accounted for 16% and 13%, respectively, of total revenue. For the year ended
December 31, 2016, two customers accounted for 17% and 10% of total revenue.
Research and Development
The Company expenses research and development costs as incurred.
Capitalized Software Development Costs
Research and development costs are generally expensed as incurred, and primarily include salaries, fees to consultants, and other related costs. The
Company capitalizes certain direct costs to develop significant functionality. The costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development and postimplementation/operating stage are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred for the activities during the application stage are capitalized. Capitalized
costs are amortized over the estimated three-year useful life and are included in costs of goods sold. During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017
and 2016, the Company capitalized $6,973, $6,055 and $4,387 respectively, of costs associated with software development. Through December 31,
2018, the Company has capitalized $23,563 in software development costs. Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016 was $3,781, $2,130 and $1,220, respectively. As of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, accumulated amortization for capitalized development
costs was $11,596, $7,815 and $5,685, respectively.
8
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DataXu, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
In 000’s, except for number of shares and par value
Operating Leases
The Company records rent expense for operating leases, some of which have escalating rent payments, on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The
Company begins recognition of rent expense on the date of initial possession, which is generally when the Company enters the leased premises and
begins to make improvements in preparation for its intended use. Some of the Company’s lease arrangements provide for concessions by the landlords,
including payments for leasehold improvements and rent-free periods. The Company accounts for the difference between the straight-line rent expense
and rent paid as deferred rent.
Debt Issuance Costs
Debt issuance costs related to the convertible debt have been recorded as a reduction of the carrying amount of the debt and are amortized to interest
expense using the effective interest method. The Company had unamortized debt issuance costs of $0 and $54 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Debt financing costs associated with credit facilities have been deferred and recorded in other assets, non-current and are amortized to
interest expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the credit facilities. The Company had unamortized debt financing costs of $93 and $350 as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. The Company incurred advertising expenses of $2,318, $1,756 and $2,337 for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, which is included in selling and marketing expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations.
Revenue Recognition
The Company generates revenue from delivering services using its technology platform. The Company recognizes revenues provided all of the
following have occurred: persuasive evidence of an arrangement with the customer exists, services have been performed, the fees are fixed or
determinable, and collectability of the fees is reasonably assured.
Each of the Company’s arrangements are evidenced by signed contracts or through insertion orders. Arrangements with customers do not provide the
customer with the right to take possession of the software or platform at any time. The Company’s arrangements are cancellable by the customer as to
any unfulfilled portion of a campaign without penalty. Media is purchased on the Company’s platform on a real-time basis and purchasing ceases upon
cancellation. In each of the Company’s arrangements, once the advertising is delivered in accordance with the terms of the contract or insertion order,
the related amounts earned for such services are non-refundable.
The Company maintains processes to determine the collectability of amounts due from customers. Amounts that have been invoiced for services are
recorded in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenue, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria outlined above have been
met. In instances where customers prepay, the Company will defer recognition of revenue until the criteria outlined above are met and actual services
have been delivered during the period based on the terms specified in the agreement with the customer.
The Company generates revenue from its platform through its Platform Managed and Platform offerings. The Company recognizes revenue on a gross
or net basis for each model based on its determination as to whether the Company is acting as the principal in the revenue generation process or as an
agent.
9
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Platform Managed — Platform Managed provides customers the opportunity to utilize the Company’s platform on a managed service basis, whereby
the Company delivers services based upon a pre-agreed set of fixed objectives with an advertiser or agency. The Company enters into customer
agreements through discrete binding insertion orders or contracts with fixed price commitments which are determined prior to the launch of an
advertising campaign.
The Company recognizes revenue for Platform Managed on a gross basis primarily based on the Company’s determination that it is deemed to be the
primary obligor, has latitude in establishing prices with its customer, has discretion in selecting media vendors when fulfilling a customer’s campaign,
and has credit risk.
Platform – Platform provides customers with self-serve capabilities for real-time media buying, serving, targeting, optimization and brand
measurement. The Company enters into contracts with customers under which fees earned by the Company are based on a utilization fee of
transactions processed through the platform as well as fees for additional features.
The Company recognizes revenue for Platform on a net basis primarily based on the Company’s determination that it is not deemed to be the primary
obligor, the actual cost of the campaign is determined by the customer through the real-time bidding process, through management of the campaign
the customer can define supplier preferences or specific suppliers from a list the Company maintains, and the amount earned by the Company is based
upon the volume of transactions of a customer’s campaign.
Income Taxes
The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements and tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon the differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities and for loss and credit carryforwards, using enacted tax
rates expected to be in effect in the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it
is more likely than not that these assets may not be realized.
The Company provides reserves for potential payments of tax to various tax authorities related to uncertain tax positions. Amounts recognized are
based on a determination of whether a tax benefit taken by the Company is more likely than not to be sustained upon audit. The amount recognized is
equal to the largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be sustained. Interest and penalties associated with such uncertain tax positions are
recorded as a component of income tax expense. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company has not identified any uncertain tax positions.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation expense reflects the fair value of stock-based awards measured at the grant date. For certain awards, the Company
estimates the fair value of each stock-based award on the grant date using the Black-Scholes model. The Black-Scholes option valuation model
incorporates assumptions as to the stock price, stock price volatility, the expected life of options granted, a risk-free interest rate and dividend yield.
Stock-based compensation expense related to employee grants is recognized over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period, as
adjusted for forfeiture, on a straight-line basis.
10
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Preferred Stock Warrant Liability
The Company accounts for warrants for the purchase of shares that are redeemable, or contingently redeemable, as a liability at fair value with the
change in fair value recorded in other income (expense) in the consolidated statements of operations. All warrants expired in September 2017 and
were either exercised or forfeited. The Company recorded other income (expense) of $208 and ($137) during 2017 and 2016, respectively, for the
change in the fair value of the warrants.
Accounting for Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
In November 2019, the Company retrospectively adjusted the method for which it accounts for Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock to conform
with public company standards. For SEC registrants, redeemable securities that are not liabilities are reported in mezzanine equity on the balance
sheet. Therefore, the Company has changed the classification for these equity instruments and has presented its Redeemable Convertible Preferred
Stock as mezzanine equity. As a result, the Company reclassified $100,417, $100,364, $99,049, and $88,798 of amounts previously presented within
stockholders’ deficit as of December 31, 2018, 2017, 2016 and 2015.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-9, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (“ASU 2014-9”), which provides new guidance for revenue recognition. ASU 2014-9 provides that an entity
should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. ASU 2014-9 also requires improved disclosures to help users of financial
statements better understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue that is recognized. Entities have the option of using either a full
retrospective or modified retrospective approach for the adoption of the standard. In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-8, Principal Versus
Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross Versus Net) (“ASU 2016-8”), which clarifies implementation guidance on principal versus agent
considerations in ASU 2014-9. In April 2016, the FASB issued ASUNo. 2016-10, Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing (“ASU
2016-10”), which clarifies the identification of performance obligations and the licensing implementation guidance in ASU 2014-9. In addition, in
May 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-12, Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients (“ASU 2016-12”), which clarifies the
guidance on assessing collectability, presentation of sales taxes, noncash consideration and completed contracts and contract modifications at
transition.
The Company is required to adopt these ASUs for the year ended December 31, 2019. The Company has elected the modified retrospective method of
adoption. The Company is still evaluating the impact of adoption; however the adoption is not anticipated to result in a material change in the timing
or amount of revenue recognized.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases, which requires an entity to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on its
balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. The guidance offers specific accounting guidance for a lessee, lessor, and sale
and leaseback transactions. Lessees and lessors are required to disclose qualitative and quantitative information about leasing arrangements to enable
a user of the financial statements to assess the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. Leases will be classified as either
finance or operating, with the classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. The guidance is effective for the
Company for beginning January 1, 2020, including interim periods within that reporting period, and permits a modified retrospective adoption. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
11
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In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230), Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash
Payments, which addresses eight specific cash flow issues with the objective of reducing the existing diversity in practice. The Company adopted ASU
2016-15 on January 1, 2018 on a retrospective basis. The impact of adoption on the consolidated financial statements did not result in a material
impact on financial results.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) (“ASU 2016-18”), which requires that amounts
generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents should be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the
beginning-of period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. For public entities, ASU2016-18 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods within those fiscal years. In November 2019, to conform with public company
standards, the Company retrospectively adopted ASU 2016-18 on January 1, 2018. The impact of adoption on the consolidated financial statements
resulted in decreases to cash used in investing activities of $95, $1,178 and $88 for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.
3.

Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment consist of the following:

Computers and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Purchased software
Leasehold improvements
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net

2018

2017

$ 1,214
1,261
104
5,801
8,380
(3,539)
$ 4,841

$ 2,868
1,287
124
1,759
6,038
(4,699)
$ 1,338

Depreciation and amortization expense was $817 and $785 and $665 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 and 2016, respectively. During
2018, the Company disposed of $1,977 of computer equipment that resulted in a $27 gain. During 2017, the Company disposed of $48 of computer
equipment that resulted in a $38 loss.
12
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4.

Fair Value Measurements
The Company uses a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which categorizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. These categories include (in descending
order of priority) Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs
other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which
little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.
The assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and the input categories associated with those assets and liabilities as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

December 31, 2018
Money market funds
Liability for redemption feature in convertible debt (Note 7)
December 31, 2017
Money market funds
Liability for redemption feature in convertible debt (Note 7)

Markets for
Identical
Assets
(Level 1)

Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

$

2,090
—

$

—
—

$

—
(137)

$ 2,090
(137)

$

3,053
—

$

—
—

$

—
(137)

$ 3,053
(137)

Total
Carrying
Value

The liability for redemption feature in convertible debt of $137 is included in accrued expenses on the balance sheet. As of December 31, 2018, the
significant unobservable inputs used in the Monte Carlo simulation to calculate the present value of cash flows included a risk-free rate of 1.42% and
equity volatility of 57.6%. Increases or decreases in these inputs would result in a higher or lower fair value measurement.
13
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A rollforward of the fair value measurements of the preferred stock warrant liability as of December 31, 2017 is as follows:
Preferred
Stock
Warrant
Liability

Balance at December 31, 2016
Value of exercised preferred stock warrants
Value of shares forfeited included in other expense
Change in fair value included in other expense
Balance at December 31, 2017

$ 1,524
(1,225)
(91)
(208)
$
—

The fair value of the preferred stock warrant liability was determined using the Black-Scholesoption-pricing model (Note 9).
5.

Income Taxes
The following table reconciles the federal statutory tax rate to the effective tax rates and the related impact to the provision for income taxes for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016:

U.S. federal tax at statutory rate
Foreign rate differential
Permanent differences
Stock-based compensation
Global intangible low-taxed income
Non-deductible interest expense
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Impact of US Tax Act
Change in state rates
Federal and state credits
Return to provision
Other
Change in valuation allowance
Total
14

2018

2017

$(3,649)
40
18
172
142
123
(1,107)
—
122
(659)
92
269
4,720
$ 283

$ (5,190)
(267)
(105)
557
—
—
(719)
10,129
(777)
(444)
200
149
(3,322)
$ 211

2016

$

(45)
(84)
283
977
—
25
720
—
—
(646)
—
168
(1,379)
$
19
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Loss before income taxes consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016:

Domestic
Foreign
Total

2018

2017

2016

$(18,304)
932
$(17,372)

$(17,079)
1,812
$(15,267)

$(574)
440
$(134)

The provision for income taxes during the year ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 consists of the following:

Current expense
Federal
State
Foreign
Total current expense
Deferred expense
Federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred expense
Total income tax expense

2018

2017

2016

$—
—
277
277

$—
—
211
211

$—
—
19
19

—
—

—
—
—
—
$211

—
—
—
—
$ 19

6
6
$283

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 consist of the following:

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Net operating loss carryforwards
Capitalized research and development costs
Research and development credits
Stock-based compensation
Accruals and other
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Net deferred tax liabilities

2018

2017

$ 15,288
6,543
6,160
1,576
2,595
32,162
(32,156)
6

$ 12,913
7,288
5,191
1,344
700
27,436
(27,436)
—

$
15
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As of December 31, 2018, the Company has approximately $43,958 and $59,718 of federal and state net operating loss carryforwards, respectively,
that expire at various dates through 2038. Additionally, the Company has approximately $10,296 and $3,313 of federal and foreign net operating loss
carryforwards, respectively, that expire indefinitely. As of December 31, 2018, the Company has approximately $4,048 and $2,673 of federal and
state research and development credit carryforwards, respectively, that expire at various dates through 2038.
The Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon its ability to realize its deferred tax assets, which are comprised
primarily of net operating loss carryforwards, capitalized research and development expenses, and research and development credits. Management has
considered the Company’s history of cumulative net losses in the U.S. and Germany, estimated future taxable income and prudent and feasible tax
planning strategies and has concluded that it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the benefits of its U.S. federal, state, and
German deferred tax assets.
The Company’s valuation allowance increased during 2018 by approximately $4,720 due to the generation of net operating losses and increases in
research and development carryforwards and capitalized research and development expenses.
Utilization of the U.S. federal and state net operating loss and research and development credit carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual
limitation under Section 382 and Section 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and corresponding provisions of state law, due to
ownership changes that have occurred previously or that could occur in the future. These ownership changes may limit the amount of net operating
loss and research and development credit carryforwards that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable income and tax liabilities, respectively.
The Company has not completed a study to assess whether a change of ownership has occurred, or whether there have been multiple ownership
changes since its formation, due to the significant cost and complexity associated with such a study. Any limitation may result in expiration of a
portion of the net operating loss carryforwards or research and development credit carryforwards before utilization. Further, until a study is completed
by the Company and any limitation is known, no amounts are being presented as an uncertain tax position.
The Company files tax returns in the United States, several states, and foreign jurisdictions. With few exceptions, the Company is subject to U.S.
federal, state and local, and foreign tax examinations by tax authorities for years 2015 through present; however, carryforward attributes that were
generated prior to January 1, 2015 may still be adjusted upon examination by federal, state or local tax authorities if they either have been or will be
used in a future period. As of December 31, 2018, the Company has recorded no liability for unrecognized tax benefits, interest, or penalties related to
federal, state, and foreign income tax matters and there currently no pending tax examinations.
On December 22, 2017, President Trump signed into law the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “TCJA” or the “Act”). The Act provides for significant
changes in the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The Act reduces the U.S. federal corporate tax rate from 35 percent to 21 percent
effective January 1, 2018, and among other things, requires companies to pay a one-time transition tax on earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries that
were previously tax deferred. The Financial accounting Standards Board has recognized the complexity of reflecting the impacts of the TCJA, and has
allowed non-public companies to apply the guidance in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“SAB 118”), Income Tax Accounting Implications of the
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, issued by the US Securities and Exchange Commission. SAB 118 provides a one-year measurement period from a registrant’s
reporting period that includes the Act’s enactment date to allow the registrant sufficient time to obtain, prepare and analyze information to complete
the accounting required under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740 – Income Taxes.
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During 2017, the Company recorded tax charges for the impact of the Tax Act effects using the current available information and technical guidance
on the interpretations of the Tax Act. As permitted by SAB 118, the Company recorded provisional estimates and have subsequently finalized our
accounting analysis based on the guidance, interpretations, and data available as of December 31, 2018.
The Tax Reform Act also includes a new U.S. tax base erosion provision, the global intangiblelow-taxed income (“GILTI”) provision, which imposes
a tax on foreign income in excess of a deemed return on tangible assets of foreign corporations. The Company has made an accounting policy election
to account for GILTI as a component of tax expense in the period in which the Company is subject to the rules and therefore did not provide any
deferred tax impacts of GILTI in its consolidated financial statements.
The Company has not made any provisions for foreign withholding or income taxes on the undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries since it is
the Company’s intention to indefinitely reinvest undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries.
6.

Senior Revolving Credit Facility
On June 30, 2016, the Company entered into a Senior Revolving Credit facility with two separate financial institutions up to the amount of $53,000.
With this facility, the Company’s previous working capital line of credit and term loans were swept into this new revolving credit facility. The
availability of the loan is subject to a borrowing base formula, which is calculated as a percentage of eligible accounts receivable. Borrowings bear
interest at a variable rate equal to prime rate plus 0.5% in addition to the applicable margin percentage between 0.25% and 1.25% based upon the
borrowing availability under the revolving credit facility.
In June 2017, the Company modified this facility by adjusting certain covenants and also including receivables issued by the Company’s United
Kingdom entity into the borrowing base formula. In January 2018, the Company modified this facility by adjusting certain covenants and also
adjusting the applicable margin percentage to between 1.25% and 1.75% based upon the borrowing availability under the revolving credit facility. The
facility maturation date was also adjusted to March 31, 2019, which was subsequently modified on March 28, 2019 to extend the maturity date to
March 2020 (Note 13). The balance on this facility was $30,482 with interest accruing at a rate of 7.25% as of December 31, 2018. Total interest
expense recorded related to credit facility borrowings was $2,030, $1,946, and $2,376 for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016,
respectively.
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Borrowings under the facility are collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company, excluding intellectual property. There are negative
covenants restricting the Company’s activities, including limitations on dispositions, mergers or acquisitions; encumbering intellectual property;
incurring indebtedness or liens; paying dividends; making certain investments; and engaging in certain other business transactions. The obligations
under the facility are subject to acceleration upon the occurrence of specified events of default, including a material adverse change in the Company’s
business, operations or financial or other condition.
The Company’s debt agreements include an annual reporting covenant that requires the Company to provide audited financial statements within 150
days following its fiscal year end. In addition, the debt agreements contain other financial covenants including a minimum liquidity levels and certain
maximum EBITDA income and losses. The Company was in compliance with all debt covenants as of December 31, 2018.
7.

Convertible Debt
In October and November 2017, the Company issued $7,512 of convertible notes (“2017 Convertible Notes”) to existing shareholders of the
Company which bear interest at an annual rate of 6% with a maturity dates of October 10, 2018 and November 10, 2018. On October 3, 2018, the
maturity date of the 2017 Convertible Notes was extended until March 10, 2019 and April 10, 2019, respectively. In March 2019, the maturity date of
the 2017 Convertible Notes was extended until March 2020. The notes may be converted into shares of Series F redeemable convertible preferred
stock at the original issuance price of $1.99. Upon certain financing events occurring between the issuance of the 2017 Convertible Notes and the
maturity date, the notes automatically convert into shares of the equity financing at 85% of the issuance cost. Upon any change of control event, the
holders will be due a payment of 2.5 times the combined balance of outstanding principal and accrued interest as of the date of the change of control
event. The conversion features were recorded at fair value as a discount to the debt of $139 upon issuance. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the fair
value of the conversion features was valued at $137 with the change in fair value of $2 recorded as a component of other expense in 2017. Total
interest expense was $451 and $131 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

8.

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit
The rights and privileges of the Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock, Series C Preferred Stock,Series C-1 Preferred Stock, Series D
Preferred Stock, Series E Preferred Stock, and Series F Preferred Stock (collectively, “Preferred Stock”) are described below:
Shares
Authorized

Series A
Series B
Series C
Series D
Series E
Series F
Total

39,405,799
21,950,017
16,263,732
18,249,022
5,393,740
10,039,279
111,301,589
18

Shares Issued/
Outstanding

Liquidation
Value

39,078,906 $
21,950,017
16,263,732
18,249,022
5,393,740
10,039,279
110,974,696 $

2018

2017

8,206 $ 9,468 $ 9,462
11,000
10,997
10,994
20,000
19,997
19,994
30,000
29,991
29,982
10,000
9,997
9,994
20,000
19,967
19,938
99,206 $100,417 $100,364
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Conversion
Each share of Preferred Stock may be converted at any time, at the option of the holder, into shares of common stock, subject to the applicable
conversion rate as determined by dividing the original issue price by the conversion price. As of December 31, 2018, the conversion price is
approximately $0.21 for Series A Preferred Stock, approximately $0.50 for Series B Preferred Stock, approximately $1.23 for both Series C and C-1
Preferred Stock, approximately $1.40 for Series D Preferred Stock, approximately $1.85 for Series E Preferred Stock, and approximately $1.99 for
Series F Preferred Stock. Conversion is mandatory at the earlier of the closing of an initial public offering of the Company’s common stock with net
proceeds to the Company of at least $30,000 or the election by holders of a majority of the then-outstanding shares of preferred stock.
Voting Rights
The preferred stockholders are entitled to vote on all matters and shall have the number of votes equal to the number of whole shares of common stock
into which the shares of Series A, Series B, Series C, Series C-1, Series D, Series E, and Series F Preferred Stock held by such holder are then
convertible at each meeting of stockholders of the corporation (and written actions of stockholders in lieu of meetings) with respect to any and all
matters presented to the stockholders of the Company for their action or consideration.
Dividends
The Preferred Stock earns a noncumulative, non-compounded annual dividend of 6%, however, shall only be payable when, as, and if declared by the
Board of Directors.
Liquidation Preference
The holders of the Preferred Stock have preferences in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the
corporation, including a merger or consolidation. Upon a liquidation event, the preferred stockholders are entitled to be paid out of the assets of
the Company available for distribution to its stockholders before any payment shall be made to the holders of common stock or any other class or
series of stock ranking on liquidation junior to the Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E and Series F Preferred Stock an amount equal to
approximately $0.21, $0.50, $1.23, $1.64, $1.85 and $1.99 per share, respectively. Thereafter, any remaining assets available for distribution would
be distributed among the holders of shares of Series C-1 Preferred Stock at an amount $1.23 per share. Thereafter, any remaining assets available for
distribution would be distributed among common stockholders.
Redemption
Shares of Series A, Series B, Series C (other than Series C-1), Series D, Series E and Series F Preferred Stock shall be redeemed by the Company at a
price equal to approximately $0.21, $0.50, $1.23, $1.64 $1.85, and $1.99 per share, respectively (subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of any
stock dividend, stock split, combination, or other recapitalization). The redemption price is payable in three annual installments commencing 60 days
after receipt by the Company at any time on or after August 2020, from the holders of at least a majority of the then-outstanding shares of Preferred
Stock (other than Series C-1), of written notice requesting redemption of all shares of Preferred Stock. The Company is accreting the Series A,
Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E and Series F Preferred Stock to redemption value over the period from the date of issuance to August 2020, such
that the carrying amounts of the securities will equal the redemption amounts at the earliest redemption date.
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Preferred Stock Warrants
In April 2009, in connection with the conversion of a notes payable to Series A Preferred Stock, the Company issued warrants to purchase shares of
Series A Preferred Stock. In September 2017, warrants to purchase 1,156,912 shares were exercised through a cashless transaction based upon a Series
A Preferred Stock fair value of $1.17 and an exercise price of $0.21 per share. Upon exercise, the estimated fair value of the warrants was $1,111,
which was converted into 949,261 shares of Series A Preferred Stock. In addition, warrants to purchase 119,046 shares with a fair value of $114 were
exercised for net proceeds of $25. There were no warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2017.
In August 2009, in connection with the issuance of a line of credit with a financial institution, the Company issued a warrant to purchase up to 285,714
shares of Series A Preferred Stock. The warrant was immediately exercisable for 142,857 shares and the remaining 142,857 shares were exercisable
upon borrowings made on the line of credit, as defined, which did not occur. In 2016, the warrants were exercised through a cashless transaction based
upon a Series A Preferred Stock fair value of $1.25 and an exercise price of $0.21 per share. Upon exercise, the estimated fair value of the warrants
was $148,571, which was converted into 118,857 shares of Series A Preferred Stock.
Common Stock Warrants
In May 2012, the Company issued warrants to two separate financial institutions to purchase up to 610,000 shares of common stock. The warrants
have an exercise price of $0.32 per share and are exercisable through May 31, 2022.
In August 2013, the Company issued warrants to two separate financial institutions to purchase up to 700,000 shares of common stock. The warrants
have an exercise price of $0.63 per share and are exercisable through August 2023.
Common Stock Reserved
As of December 31, 2018, the Company has authorized 200,785,577 shares of common stock, and the following number of shares of common stock
has been reserved for the potential conversion of preferred stock and exercise of stock options and warrants:
Conversion of Series A Preferred Stock
Conversion of Series B Preferred Stock
Conversion of Series C Preferred Stock
Conversion of Series C-1 Preferred Stock
Conversion of Series D Preferred Stock
Conversion of Series E Preferred Stock
Conversion of Series F Preferred Stock
Exercise of common stock options and warrants

39,405,799
21,950,017
16,263,732
2,903,027
21,389,410
5,393,740
10,039,279
49,973,440
167,318,444
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9.

Stock Incentive Plans
In 2008, the Board of Directors adopted the 2008 Stock Option Plan (the “2008 Plan”), which provides for the grant of qualified incentive stock
options and nonqualified stock options or other awards to the Company’s employees, officers, directors, advisors, and outside consultants for the
purchase of up to 61,933,640 shares, as amended, of the Company’s common stock. Stock options generally vest over a 4-year period and expire
10 years from the date of grant. Certain options provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change in control (as defined in the 2008 Plan). The 2008
Plan was terminated by the Board of Directors in July 2017 and replaced with the 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”).
The 2017 Plan provides for the grant of qualified incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, and restricted stock units or other awards to
the Company’s employees, officers, directors, advisors, and outside consultants. The stock incentive pool was not increased but all cancelled and
forfeited stock options from the 2008 Plan were transferred into the 2017 Plan allowing for the purchase of up to 61,933,640 shares, as amended, of
the Company’s common stock. Stock options generally vest over a 4-year period and expire 10 years from the date of grant. Certain options provide
for accelerated vesting if there is a change in control (as defined in the 2017 Stock Plan). Restricted stock units generally vest over a 4-year period but
require a liquidity event by the Company, as defined in the 2017 Plan agreements. Restricted stock units generally expire 7 years from the date of
grant. Certain restricted stock units provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change in control (as defined in the 2017 Plan agreements). The
Company generally issues previously unissued shares of common stock for the exercise of stock options.
As of December 31, 2018, there were 2,449,828 shares available for future grant under the 2017 Plan.
Stock Options
The Company has recorded stock-based compensation expense for stock options of $2,714, $2,971, and $2,769 during the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, which is based on the number of options ultimately expected to vest. As of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016,
there was $3,778, $4,600 and $7,001, respectively, of unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested common stock option arrangements
granted under the Plan, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.22, 2.43, and 2.82 years, respectively.
The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Expected volatility for the
Company’s common stock was determined based on an average of the historical volatility of a peer group of similar public companies. The expected
life of options granted to employees was calculated using the simplified method, which represents the average of the contractual term of the option and
the weighted-average vesting period of the option. The Company uses the simplified method because it does not have sufficient historical option
exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term. The expected life of options granted to nonemployees is equal to the
remaining contractual term as of the measurement date. The assumed dividend yield is based upon the Company’s expectation of not paying dividends
in the foreseeable future. The risk-free rate for periods within the expected life of the option is based upon the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the
time of grant.
In determining the exercise prices for options granted, the Company’s Board of Directors consider the fair value of the common stock as of the
measurement date. Based upon a variety of factors, including the results obtained from an independent third-party valuation, the Company’s financial
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position and historical financial performance, the status of technological developments within the Company’s platform, the composition and ability of
the current engineering and management team, an evaluation or benchmark of the Company’s competition, the current business climate in the
marketplace, the illiquid nature of the common stock, arm’s-length sales of the Company’s capital stock (including redeemable convertible preferred
stock), the effect of the rights and preferences of the preferred stockholders, and the prospects of a liquidity event, among others.
The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model are as follows:
2018

Expected volatility
Weighted-average risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected life - employee awards

58%
2.63
—
4.85 years

2017

58%
2.04
—
5.94 years

2016

58%
1.26
—
6.01 years

A summary of option activity under the Plan as of December 31, 2018 and changes during the three years ended are as follows:
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Number of
Options

Outstanding at December 31, 2015
Exercisable at December 31, 2015
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2015
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited and canceled
Outstanding at December 31, 2016
Exercisable at December 31, 2016
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2016
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited and canceled
Outstanding at December 31, 2017
Exercisable at December 31, 2017
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2017
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited and canceled
Expired
Outstanding at December 31, 2018
Exercisable at December 31, 2018
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2018

39,876,332
20,660,410
38,339,063
13,000,032
(1,286,159)
(6,743,809)
44,846,396
25,196,650
43,274,422
3,435,439
(767,170)
(5,374,456)
42,140,209
30,602,702
41,217,208
20,287,203
(2,104,711)
(20,626,839)
(4,500)
39,691,362
30,230,342
38,934,480

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

$

$

0.49
0.40
0.48
0.92
0.45
0.66
0.59
0.44
0.58
0.95
0.34
0.74
0.60
0.50
0.59
0.68
0.27
0.81
0.15
0.55
0.51
0.55

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Term

6.78
6.78
7.74

7.48
6.43
7.44

6.61
5.93
6.57

6.16
5.43
6.11

In February 2018, the Company modified all the then outstanding stock option grants with an exercise price above $0.68 to a new exercise price of
$0.68, which was the fair value of the common stock at the date of the modification. As a result of this modification, options to purchase 15,604,766
shares of common stock were repriced to an exercise price of $0.68 and stock-based compensation expense of $243 was recorded for the year ending
December 31, 2018.
The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $0.12, $0.52 and $0.50
per share, respectively. No tax benefits were realized from options during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. The intrinsic value of
options exercised in 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $869, $448 and $608, respectively.
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Restricted Stock Units with Service and Performance-Based Vesting
During 2018 and 2017, the Company granted restricted stock units (“RSUs”) subject to both service vesting conditions of 48 months and
performance-based vesting conditions of 84 months upon a liquidity event, defined as either change of control event or initial public offering. The
Company has not recorded compensation expense related to these restricted stock units during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 as the
achievement of the performance condition is not probable.
A summary of RSU activity under the Plan as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and changes during the years then ended are as follows:
Number of
Shares

Unvested balance at December 31, 2016
Granted
Forfeited
Unvested balance at December 31, 2017
Granted
Forfeited
Unvested balance at December 31, 2018

10.

—
3,066,839
(111,209)
2,955,630
3,873,177
(306,557)
6,522,250

WeightedAverage
Fair Value

$

$

—
0.86
0.86
0.86
0.68
0.81
0.76

Mexad, Ltd Acquisition
In 2011, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of Mexad, Ltd, a German-based technology and service provider of auction-based ad
impressions over digital auction platforms. Under the terms of the acquisition, certain Mexad Ltd. employees were eligible to receive additional
consideration that was contingent upon the future earnings of Mexad Ltd. for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2012 and continued employment
with the Company. Each eligible employee held the option for either a stock or cash payout at the time of exercise. During the year ended
December 31, 2016, all eligible Mexad, Ltd. employees exercised their rights for a cash payout resulting in total cash payments of $546, of which
$509 was included in additional paid-in capital and $37 was charged to stock-based compensation expense.

11.

Employee Benefit Plan
The Company has a Section 401(k) defined contribution savings plan for its employees. The plan covers substantially all employees who meet
minimum age and service requirements and allows participants to defer a portion of their annual compensation on a pretax basis, subject to legal
limitations. Contributions to the plan may be made at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The Company has made contributions of $156, $0 and
$0 for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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12.

Commitments and Contingencies
The Company leases office facilities under noncancelable operating leases as well as an office equipment lease that expire at various dates through
July 2029. Some of these lease agreements contain escalating rent payments. Rent expense is recorded on a straight-line basis, and therefore, as of
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company has deferred rent of $3,756, $338 and $622, respectively. Rent expense was $3,213, $2,860 and
$2,795 or the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 respectively.
Future minimum amounts payable as of December 31, 2018, under the operating lease agreements are as follows:
Years Ending December 31,
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments

$ 3,639
3,883
3,430
3,404
3,059
15,981
$33,396

13. Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through May 1, 2019, the date these financial statements were available to be issued.
On March 28, 2019, the Company modified the existing borrowing facility by extending the maturity date to March 31, 2020. In addition, $3 million
of borrowing capacity in excess of the calculated monthly borrowing base was made available through September 30, 2019. Quarterly EBITDA
covenants were also established for the remainder of the term with all other covenants remaining the same as stated in the previous amendment.
On March 27, 2019, the Company issued $4 million of convertible notes (“2019 Convertible Notes”) to existing shareholders of the Company which
bear interest at an annual rate of 6% with a maturity date of March 27, 2020. The notes may be converted into shares of Series F redeemable
convertible preferred stock at the original issuance price of $1.99. Upon certain financing events occurring between the issuance of the 2019
Convertible Notes and the maturity date, the notes automatically convert into shares of the equity financing at 85% of the issuance cost. Upon any
change of control event, the holders will be due a payment of 3.0 times the combined balance of outstanding principal and accrued interest as of the
date of the change of control event. In addition, the maturity date of the existing 2017 Convertible Notes originally issued in October 2017 was
extended until March 27, 2020.
Events Subsequent to Original Issuance of Financial Statements (Unaudited)
In connection with the reissuance of the financial statements, the Company has evaluated subsequent events through November 18, 2019, the date the
financial statements were available to be reissued.
The Company was in violation of the liquidity covenant within the Senior Revolving Credit Facility for the monthly period ended August 31, 2019, as
well as in violation of the liquidity and EBITDA covenant within the Senior Revolving Credit Facility for the period ended September 30, 2019. On
October 9, 2019, the Company entered into a forbearance agreement which waived the covenant violations until November 15, 2019.
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On October 22, 2019, the Company entered into a Merger Agreement with Roku, Inc. for the purchase of the Company for cash and equity
consideration of $150 million. The Agreement closed on November 8, 2019. As part of the agreement, the Senior Revolving Credit Facility and the
2017 and 2019 Convertible Notes were repaid in full as part of the closing proceeds.
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DataXu, Inc.
Unaudited Consolidated Balance Sheets
September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018
In 000’s, except for number of shares and par value

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $146 and $573 at September 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively
Current portion of restricted cash
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Capitalized software development costs, net
Restricted cash, net of current portion
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Current portion of deferred rent
Line of credit
Convertible debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Deferred rent
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value -111,301,589 shares authorized; 110,974,696 shares issued
and outstanding at at September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively (liquidation value of $99,206 at
September 30, 2019)
Stockholders’ deficit
Series C-1 convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value - 2,903,027 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and
outstanding
Common stock, $0.001 par value - 200,785,577 shares authorized; 33,754,309 and 33,457,325 shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ deficit
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
1

September 30,
2019

December 31,
2018

$

5,406

$

21,313

$

39,547
138
2,172
47,263
4,579
15,097
1,811
9,457
281
78,488

$

53,741
264
3,209
78,527
4,841
11,967
1,453
9,457
512
106,757

$

33,836
12,087
548
298
28,965
12,464
88,198

34,993
23,625
738
381
30,482
8,037
98,256

4,434
92,632

3,375
101,631

100,443

100,417

—

$

$

34
26,370
(140,988)
(3)
(114,587)
78,488

—
33
24,735
(120,058)
(1)
(95,291)
$ 106,757
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DataXu, Inc.
Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
For the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018
In 000’s
For the nine months ended
September 30,
September 30,
2019
2018

Revenue
Cost and operating expenses
Cost of revenue
Selling and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total cost and operating expenses
Operating loss
Other expense
Interest expense, net
Other expense, net
Total other expense, net
Loss before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss
Other Comprehensive loss
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Comprehensive loss

$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
2

77,231

$

104,933

55,838
22,101
8,590
8,102
94,631
(17,400)

70,403
24,257
11,495
9,106
115,261
(10,328)

(2,683)
(698)
(3,381)
(20,781)
149
(20,930)

(2,212)
(546)
(2,758)
(13,086)
196
(13,282)

(2)
(20,932)

$

(50)
(13,332)
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Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit
For the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018
In 000’s, except for number of shares
Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock
Shares
Amount

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Additional Paid-in
Capital

Balances at December 31, 2017 110,974,696 $100,364
Exercise of stock options
Stock-based compensation
Accretion of preferred stock
issuance costs
41
Accumulated other comprehensive
loss
Net loss
Balances at September 30, 2018 110,974,696 $100,405

31,352,614 $
1,916,922

31 $
2

21,577
462
2,161

33,269,536 $

33 $

24,159

Balances at December 31, 2018 110,974,696 $100,417
Exercise of stock options
Stock-based compensation
Accretion of preferred stock
issuance costs
26
Accumulated other comprehensive
loss
Net loss
Balances at September 30, 2019 110,974,696 $100,443

33,457,325 $
296,984

33 $
1

24,735
62
1,599

Accumulated
Deficit

Comprehensive
Loss

$ (102,403) $

Total Stockholders’
Deficit

(111) $

(41)

(41)
(50)
(13,282)
$ (115,685) $

(161) $

$ (120,058) $

(1) $

(26)

34 $

26,370

(20,930)
$ (140,988) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
3

(50)
(13,282)
(91,654)
(95,291)
63
1,599
(26)

(2)
33,754,309 $

(80,906)
464
2,161

(3) $

(2)
(20,930)
(114,587)
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Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018
In 000’s
For the nine months ended
September 30,
September 30,
2019
2018

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Change in fair value for liability for redemption feature in convertible debt
Bad debt expense
(Gain) loss of disposal of property and equipment
Non-cash interest expense
Deferred rent
Unrealized foreign currency translations
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other
Deferred revenue
Other assets
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Capitalization of software development costs
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Proceeds from line of credit
Payment on line of credit
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debt
Cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rates on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Beginning of year
End of year
Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Supplemental noncash financing activities
Accretion of preferred stock issuance costs
Fair value of liability for redemption feature associated with the issuance of convertible debt
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
4

$

$

(20,930)

$

(13,282)

4,767
1,599
375
120
50
839
974
(203)

2,888
2,161
—
197
(27)
683
431
(155)

13,902
1,118
(1,152)
(12,180)
(181)
113
(10,789)

9,321
(991)
1,883
(7,587)
(967)
473
(4,972)

(7,089)
(600)
(7,689)

(5,220)
(1,073)
(6,293)

63
7,665
(9,182)
4,038
2,584
220
(15,674)

464
2,000
—
—
2,464
307
(8,494)

23,029
7,355

$

24,128
15,634

$

1,676
80

$

1,459
144

$

26
314

$

41
—
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Unaudited Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018
In 000’s, except for number of shares and par value
1.

Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation
DataXu, Inc. (the “Company” or “DataXu”) was incorporated in Delaware on August 3, 2007. The Company develops and delivers a suite of cloudbased marketing applications that leverage big data to enable brands and their agencies to better understand and engage their customers. With sixteen
offices in ten countries, DataXu works with businesses across the globe to improve the return on their digital marketing investments.
The Company is subject to a number of risks similar to companies in the industry that could affect future operations and financial performance. These
risks include, but are not limited to, rapid technological change, competitive pressure from substitute products or larger companies, protection of
proprietary technology, customer concentration, the need to obtain additional financing to support growth, and dependence on third parties and key
individuals.
The Company evaluated whether conditions or events raise substantial doubt about its ability to meet its future financial obligations as they become
due within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. The Company did not take into consideration the potential mitigating effects
of plans that have not been fully implemented as of the date the financial statements were issued. As of September 30, 2019, the Company had an
accumulated deficit of $140,988, cash and cash equivalents of $5,406, convertible debt due of $12,464 with portions currently due in March 2020, and
a line of credit repayment of $28,965 due in March 2020 (Notes 6 and 7). The Company had insufficient funds to repay these balances at that time,
which raised substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. On October 22, 2019, the Company entered into a Merger
Agreement with Roku, Inc. and as part of the agreement, the line of credit and the convertible debt were repaid in full as part of the closing proceeds
on November 8, 2019. Refer to Note 12 for additional information. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect
the possible future effects on recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities that may result from the outcome
of this uncertainty.

2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates relied upon in preparing these financial statements include, but are not limited
to, revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, capitalized software development costs, the fair value of equity awards and certain accrued
expenses.
5

Table of Contents

DataXu, Inc.
Unaudited Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018
In 000’s, except for number of shares and par value
Foreign Currency Translation
The functional currency of the Company’s foreign operations is the local country’s currency. Consequently, the results of operations outside the
United States are translated into U.S. dollars using average exchange rates for the period reported, while assets and liabilities of operations outside the
United States are translated into U.S. dollars using end-of-period exchange rates. Foreign currency translation adjustments are included in
stockholders’ equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Foreign
currency transaction losses included in other expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 were $340 and $558, respectively.
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash
Cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments maturing within 90 days from the date of purchase. Cash equivalents consist of money market
funds as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018. As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company had irrevocable letters of
credit outstanding with financial institutions, secured by money market funds, for facilities leases.
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash consist of the following:

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Total

September 30,
2019

December 31,
2018

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

$

$

$

$

$

5,406
1,949
7,355

$

21,313
1,717
23,029

$

13,921
1,713
15,634

$

22,506
1,622
24,128

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. When assets are retired or
disposed of, the assets and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in the
determination of net income or loss. Computers and equipment, purchased software, and furniture and fixtures are depreciated using the straight-line
method and an estimated useful life of three years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the asset
life or remaining term of the lease.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The Company records goodwill when the consideration paid in a business acquisition exceeds the fair value of the net tangible assets acquired,
identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized.
The Company assesses goodwill for impairment, using either a quantitative or qualitative test, annually on October 1 of each year or more frequently
when events and circumstances occur indicating that the recorded goodwill may be impaired. If the book value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair
value, the implied fair value of goodwill is compared with the carrying amount of goodwill. If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the implied
fair value, an impairment loss is recorded equal to that excess. The Company considers the following factors that could trigger an impairment review:
significant underperformance relative to historical or projected operating results, significant changes in the Company’s use of the acquired assets in a
business combination or the strategy for its overall business, and significant negative industry or economic trends.
6
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Long-lived assets include property and equipment and capitalized software development costs. The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for
recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be recoverable. The Company considers the
following factors in deciding when to perform an impairment review: significant underperformance of the business in relation to expectations,
significant negative industry or economic trends and significant changes or planned changes in the use of the assets. To evaluate a long-lived asset for
recoverability, the Company compares forecasts of undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the long-lived
asset to its carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds the sum of the expected undiscounted cash flows, an impairment loss on the long-lived asset to
be held and used is recognized based on the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value, determined based on discounted cash flows.
No events or changes in circumstances existed to require an impairment assessment during the nine months ended September 30, 2019.
Research and Development
The Company expenses research and development costs as incurred.
Capitalized Software Development Costs
Research and development costs are generally expensed as incurred, and primarily include salaries, fees to consultants, and other related costs. The
Company capitalizes certain direct costs to develop significant functionality. The costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development and postimplementation/operating stage are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred for the activities during the application stage are capitalized. Capitalized
costs are amortized over the estimated three-year useful life and are included in costs of goods sold. During the nine months ended September 30,
2019 and 2018, the Company capitalized $7,089 and $5,220, respectively, of costs associated with software development. Through September 30,
2019, the Company has capitalized $30,652 in software development costs. Amortization expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and
2018 was $3,959 and $2,259, respectively. As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, accumulated amortization for capitalized development
costs was $15,555 and $11,596, respectively.
Operating Leases
The Company records rent expense for operating leases, some of which have escalating rent payments, on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The
Company begins recognition of rent expense on the date of initial possession, which is generally when the Company enters the leased premises and
begins to make improvements in preparation for its intended use. Some of the Company’s lease arrangements provide for concessions by the landlords,
including payments for leasehold improvements and rent-free periods. The Company accounts for the difference between the straight-line rent expense
and rent paid as deferred rent.
Debt Issuance Costs
Debt issuance costs related to the convertible debt have been recorded as a reduction of the carrying amount of the debt and are amortized to interest
expense using the effective interest method. The Company had unamortized debt issuance costs of $10 and $0 as of September 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively. Debt financing costs associated with credit facilities have been deferred and recorded in other current assets and are
amortized to interest expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the credit facilities. The Company had unamortized debt financing costs of $232
and $93 as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
7
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In 000’s, except for number of shares and par value
Revenue Recognition
The Company generates revenue from delivering services using its technology platform. The Company recognizes revenues provided all of the
following have occurred: persuasive evidence of an arrangement with the customer exists, services have been performed, the fees are fixed or
determinable, and collectability of the fees is reasonably assured.
Each of the Company’s arrangements are evidenced by signed contracts or through insertion orders. Arrangements with customers do not provide the
customer with the right to take possession of the software or platform at any time. The Company’s arrangements are cancellable by the customer as to
any unfulfilled portion of a campaign without penalty. Media is purchased on the Company’s platform on a real-time basis and purchasing ceases upon
cancellation. In each of the Company’s arrangements, once the advertising is delivered in accordance with the terms of the contract or insertion order,
the related amounts earned for such services are non-refundable.
The Company maintains processes to determine the collectability of amounts due from customers. Amounts that have been invoiced for services are
recorded in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenue, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria outlined above have been
met. In instances where customers prepay, the Company will defer recognition of revenue until the criteria outlined above are met and actual services
have been delivered during the period based on the terms specified in the agreement with the customer.
The Company generates revenue from its platform through its Platform Managed and Platform offerings. The Company recognizes revenue on a gross
or net basis for each model based on its determination as to whether the Company is acting as the principal in the revenue generation process or as an
agent.
Platform Managed — Platform Managed provides customers the opportunity to utilize the Company’s platform on a managed service basis, whereby
the Company delivers services based upon a pre-agreed set of fixed objectives with an advertiser or agency. The Company enters into customer
agreements through discrete binding insertion orders or contracts with fixed price commitments which are determined prior to the launch of an
advertising campaign.
The Company recognizes revenue for Platform Managed on a gross basis primarily based on the Company’s determination that it is deemed to be the
primary obligor, has latitude in establishing prices with its customer, has discretion in selecting media vendors when fulfilling a customer’s campaign,
and has credit risk.
Platform – Platform provides customers with self-serve capabilities for real-time media buying, serving, targeting, optimization and brand
measurement. The Company enters into contracts with customers under which fees earned by the Company are based on a utilization fee of
transactions processed through the platform as well as fees for additional features.
The Company recognizes revenue for Platform on a net basis primarily based on the Company’s determination that it is not deemed to be the primary
obligor, the actual cost of the campaign is determined by the customer through the real-time bidding process, through management of the campaign
the customer can define supplier preferences or specific suppliers from a list the Company maintains, and the amount earned by the Company is based
upon the volume of transactions of a customer’s campaign.
8
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Income Taxes
The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements and tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon the differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities and for loss and credit carryforwards, using enacted tax
rates expected to be in effect in the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it
is more likely than not that these assets may not be realized.
The Company provides reserves for potential payments of tax to various tax authorities related to uncertain tax positions. Amounts recognized are
based on a determination of whether a tax benefit taken by the Company is more likely than not to be sustained upon audit. The amount recognized is
equal to the largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be sustained. Interest and penalties associated with such uncertain tax positions are
recorded as a component of income tax expense. As of September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company has not identified any uncertain tax positions.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation expense reflects the fair value of stock-based awards measured at the grant date. For certain awards, the Company
estimates the fair value of each stock-based award on the grant date using the Black-Scholes model. The Black-Scholes option valuation model
incorporates assumptions as to the stock price, stock price volatility, the expected life of options granted, a risk-free interest rate and dividend yield.
Stock-based compensation expense related to employee grants is recognized over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period, as
adjusted for forfeiture, on a straight-line basis.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-9, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (“ASU 2014-9”), which provides new guidance for revenue recognition. ASU 2014-9 provides that an entity
should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. ASU 2014-9 also requires improved disclosures to help users of financial
statements better understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue that is recognized. Entities have the option of using either a full
retrospective or modified retrospective approach for the adoption of the standard. In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-8, Principal Versus
Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross Versus Net) (“ASU 2016-8”), which clarifies implementation guidance on principal versus agent
considerations in ASU 2014-9. In April 2016, the FASB issued ASUNo. 2016-10, Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing (“ASU
2016-10”), which clarifies the identification of performance obligations and the licensing implementation guidance in ASU 2014-9. In addition, in
May 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-12, Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients (“ASU 2016-12”), which clarifies the
guidance on assessing collectability, presentation of sales taxes, noncash consideration and completed contracts and contract modifications at
transition.
The Company is required to adopt these ASUs for the year ended December 31, 2019. The Company has elected the modified retrospective method of
adoption. The Company is still evaluating the impact of adoption, however the adoption is not anticipated to result in a material change in the timing
or amount of revenue recognized.
9
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases, which requires an entity to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on its
balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. The guidance offers specific accounting guidance for a lessee, lessor, and sale
and leaseback transactions. Lessees and lessors are required to disclose qualitative and quantitative information about leasing arrangements to enable
a user of the financial statements to assess the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. Leases will be classified as either
finance or operating, with the classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. The guidance is effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within that reporting period, and requires a modified retrospective
adoption, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
3.

Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment consist of the following:

Computers and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Purchased software
Leasehold improvements
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net

September 30,
2019

December 31,
2018

$

$

$

989
1,563
104
5,899
8,555
(3,976)
4,579

$

1,214
1,261
104
5,801
8,380
(3,539)
4,841

Depreciation and amortization expense was $810 and $636 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. During the nine
months ended September 30, 2019, the Company disposed of $423 of computer equipment that resulted in a $50 loss. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2018, the Company disposed of $1,977 of computer equipment that resulted in a $27 gain.
4.

Fair Value Measurements
The Company uses a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which categorizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. These categories include (in descending
order of priority) Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs
other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which
little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.
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The assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and the input categories associated with those assets and liabilities as of
September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 are as follows:
Fair Value Measurements Using

September 30, 2019
Money market funds
Liability for redemption feature in convertible debt (Note 7)
December 31, 2018
Money market funds
Liability for redemption feature in convertible debt (Note 7)

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical
Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Total
Carrying
Value

$

101
—

$

—
—

$

—
(825)

$

$

2,090
—

$

—
—

$

—
(137)

$ 2,090
(137)

101
(825)

The liability for redemption feature in convertible debt of $825 and $137 is included in accrued expenses on the balance sheet. As of September 30,
2019, the significant unobservable inputs used in the Monte Carlo simulation to calculate the present value of cash flows included a risk-free rate of
2.4%, equity volatility of 73.5%, and the average yield for the 2017 convertible notes of .86%. Increases or decreases in these inputs would result in a
higher or lower fair value measurement.
5.

Income Taxes
The reported amount of the provision for income taxes for the year ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 differs from the amount that would result
from applying domestic federal statutory rates to pre-tax losses primarily because of changes in the U.S. valuation allowance,non-deductible stockbased compensation expense, state taxes, and the generation of federal and state research and development credits. The provision for income taxes for
the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 was $149 and $196, respectively.
The Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon its ability to realize its deferred tax assets, which are comprised
primarily of net operating loss carryforwards, capitalized research and development expenses, and research and development credits. Management has
considered the Company’s history of cumulative net losses in the U.S. and Germany, estimated future taxable income and prudent and feasible tax
planning strategies and has concluded that it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the benefits of its U.S. federal, state, and
German deferred tax assets.
11
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Utilization of the U.S. federal and state net operating loss and research and development credit carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual
limitation under Section 382 and Section 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and corresponding provisions of state law, due to
ownership changes that have occurred previously or that could occur in the future. These ownership changes may limit the amount of net operating
loss and research and development credit carryforwards that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable income and tax liabilities, respectively.
The Company has not completed a study to assess whether a change of ownership has occurred, or whether there have been multiple ownership
changes since its formation, due to the significant cost and complexity associated with such a study. Any limitation may result in expiration of a
portion of the net operating loss carryforwards or research and development credit carryforwards before utilization. Further, until a study is completed
by the Company and any limitation is known, no amounts are being presented as an uncertain tax position.
6.

Senior Revolving Credit Facility
On June 30, 2016, the Company entered into a Senior Revolving Credit Facility with two separate financial institutions up to the amount of $53,000.
With this facility, the Company’s previous working capital line of credit and term loans were swept into this new revolving credit facility. The
availability of the loan is subject to a borrowing base formula, which is calculated as a percentage of eligible accounts receivable. Borrowings bear
interest at a variable rate equal to prime rate plus 0.5% in addition to the applicable margin percentage between 0.25% and 1.25% based upon the
borrowing availability under the revolving credit facility.
In June 2017, the Company modified this facility by adjusting certain covenants and also including receivables issued by the Company’s United
Kingdom entity into the borrowing base formula. In January 2018, the Company modified this facility by adjusting certain covenants and also
adjusting the applicable margin percentage to between 1.25% and 1.75% based upon the borrowing availability under the revolving credit facility. The
facility maturation date was also adjusted to March 31, 2019.
On March 28, 2019, the Company modified the existing borrowing facility by extending the maturity date to March 31, 2020. In addition, $3 million
of borrowing capacity in excess of the calculated monthly borrowing base was made available through September 30, 2019. Quarterly EBITDA
covenants were also established for the remainder of the term with all other covenants remaining the same as stated in the previous amendment. The
balance on this facility was $28,965 with interest accruing at a rate of 6.75% as of September 30, 2019 and 7% as of September 30, 2018. Total
interest expense recorded related to this credit facility was $1,665 and $1,484 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Borrowings under the facility are collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company, excluding intellectual property. There are negative
covenants restricting the Company’s activities, including limitations on dispositions, mergers or acquisitions; encumbering intellectual property;
incurring indebtedness or liens; paying dividends; making certain investments; and engaging in certain other business transactions. The obligations
under the facility are subject to acceleration upon the occurrence of specified events of default, including a material adverse change in the Company’s
business, operations or financial or other condition. None of these negative covenants were violated as of September 30, 2019.
The Company’s debt agreements include an annual reporting covenant that requires the Company to provide audited financial statements within 150
days following its fiscal year end. In addition, the debt agreements contain other financial covenants including a minimum liquidity levels and certain
maximum EBITDA income and losses. The Company was in violation of the liquidity covenant for the period ended August 31, 2019, as well as in
violation of the liquidity and EBITDA covenant for the period ended September 30, 2019. On October 9, 2019, the Company entered into a
forbearance agreement which waived the covenant violations until November 15, 2019 (Note 12).
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7.

Convertible Debt
In October and November 2017, the Company issued $7,512 of convertible notes (“2017 Convertible Notes”) to existing shareholders of the
Company which bear interest at an annual rate of 6% with a maturity dates of October 10, 2018 and November 10, 2018. On October 3, 2018, the
maturity date of the 2017 Convertible Notes was extended until March 10, 2019 and April 10, 2019, respectively. In March 2019, the maturity date of
the 2017 Convertible Notes was extended until March 2020 and was treated as a modification for accounting purposes. The notes may be converted
into shares of Series F redeemable convertible preferred stock at the original issuance price of $1.99. Upon certain financing events occurring between
the issuance of the 2017 Convertible Notes and the maturity date, the notes automatically convert into shares of the equity financing at 85% of the
issuance cost. Upon any change of control event, the holders will be due a payment of 2.5 times the combined balance of outstanding principal and
accrued interest as of the date of the change of control event. The conversion features were recorded at fair value as a discount to the debt of $139 upon
issuance.
On March 27, 2019, the Company issued $4 million of convertible notes (“2019 Convertible Notes”) to existing shareholders of the Company which
bear interest at an annual rate of 6% with a maturity date of March 27, 2020. The notes may be converted into shares of Series F redeemable
convertible preferred stock at the original issuance price of $1.99. Upon certain financing events occurring between the issuance of the 2019
Convertible Notes and the maturity date, the notes automatically convert into shares of the equity financing at 85% of the issuance cost. Upon any
change of control event, the holders will be due a payment of 3.0 times the combined balance of outstanding principal and accrued interest as of the
date of the change of control event. The conversion features were recorded at fair value as a discount to the debt of $314 upon issuance.
As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the fair value of the conversion features was valued at $825 and $137, respectively, with the
change in fair value of the 2017 Convertible Notes of $375 recorded as a component of other expense. Total interest expense was $453 and $338 for
the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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8.

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit
The rights and privileges of the Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock, Series C Preferred Stock,Series C-1 Preferred Stock, Series D
Preferred Stock, Series E Preferred Stock, and Series F Preferred Stock (collectively, “Preferred Stock”) are described below:
Conversion
Each share of Preferred Stock may be converted at any time, at the option of the holder, into shares of common stock, subject to the applicable
conversion rate as determined by dividing the original issue price by the conversion price. As of December 31, 2018, the conversion price is
approximately $0.21 for Series A Preferred Stock, approximately $0.50 for Series B Preferred Stock, approximately $1.23 for both Series C and C-1
Preferred Stock, approximately $1.40 for Series D Preferred Stock, approximately $1.85 for Series E Preferred Stock, and approximately $1.99 for
Series F Preferred Stock. Conversion is mandatory at the earlier of the closing of an initial public offering of the Company’s common stock with net
proceeds to the Company of at least $30,000 or the election by holders of a majority of the then-outstanding shares of preferred stock.
Voting Rights
The preferred stockholders are entitled to vote on all matters and shall have the number of votes equal to the number of whole shares of common stock
into which the shares of Series A, Series B, Series C, Series C-1, Series D, Series E, and Series F Preferred Stock held by such holder are then
convertible at each meeting of stockholders of the corporation (and written actions of stockholders in lieu of meetings) with respect to any and all
matters presented to the stockholders of the Company for their action or consideration.
Dividends
The Preferred Stock earns a noncumulative, non-compounded annual dividend of 6%, however, shall only be payable when, as, and if declared by the
Board of Directors.
Liquidation Preference
The holders of the Preferred Stock have preferences in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the
corporation, including a merger or consolidation. Upon a liquidation event, the preferred stockholders are entitled to be paid out of the assets of
the Company available for distribution to its stockholders before any payment shall be made to the holders of common stock or any other class or
series of stock ranking on liquidation junior to the Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E and Series F Preferred Stock an amount equal to
approximately $0.21, $0.50, $1.23, $1.64, $1.85 and $1.99 per share, respectively. Thereafter, any remaining assets available for distribution would
be distributed among the holders of shares of Series C-1 Preferred Stock at an amount $1.23 per share. Thereafter, any remaining assets available for
distribution would be distributed among common stockholders.
Redemption
Shares of Series A, Series B, Series C (other than Series C-1), Series D, Series E and Series F Preferred Stock shall be redeemed by the Company at a
price equal to approximately $0.21, $0.50, $1.23, $1.64 $1.85, and $1.99 per share, respectively (subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of any
stock dividend, stock split, combination, or other recapitalization). The redemption price is payable in three annual installments commencing 60 days
after receipt by the Company at any time on or after August 2020, from the holders of at least a majority of the then-outstanding shares of Preferred
Stock (other than Series C-1), of written notice requesting redemption of all shares of Preferred Stock. The Company is accreting the Series A,
Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E and Series F Preferred Stock to redemption value over the period from the date of issuance to August 2020, such
that the carrying amounts of the securities will equal the redemption amounts at the earliest redemption date.
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Common Stock Warrants
In May 2012, the Company issued warrants to two separate financial institutions to purchase up to 610,000 shares of common stock. The warrants
have an exercise price of $0.32 per share and are exercisable through May 31, 2022.
In August 2013, the Company issued warrants to two separate financial institutions to purchase up to 700,000 shares of common stock. The warrants
have an exercise price of $0.63 per share and are exercisable through August 2023.
Common Stock Reserved
As of September 30, 2019, the Company has authorized 200,785,577 shares of common stock, and the following number of shares of common stock
has been reserved for the potential conversion of preferred stock and exercise of stock options and warrants:
Conversion of Series A Preferred Stock
Conversion of Series B Preferred Stock
Conversion of Series C Preferred Stock
Conversion of Series C-1 Preferred Stock
Conversion of Series D Preferred Stock
Conversion of Series E Preferred Stock
Conversion of Series F Preferred Stock
Exercise of common stock options and warrants

9.

39,405,799
21,950,017
16,263,732
2,903,027
21,389,410
5,393,740
10,039,279
49,973,440
167,318,444

Stock Incentive Plans
In 2008, the Board of Directors adopted the 2008 Stock Option Plan (the “2008 Plan”), which provides for the grant of qualified incentive stock
options and nonqualified stock options or other awards to the Company’s employees, officers, directors, advisors, and outside consultants for the
purchase of up to 61,933,640 shares, as amended, of the Company’s common stock. Stock options generally vest over a 4-year period and expire
10 years from the date of grant. Certain options provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change in control (as defined in the 2008 Plan). The 2008
Plan was terminated by the Board of Directors in July 2017 and replaced with the 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”).
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The 2017 Plan provides for the grant of qualified incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, and restricted stock units or other awards to
the Company’s employees, officers, directors, advisors, and outside consultants. The stock incentive pool was not increased but all cancelled and
forfeited stock options from the 2008 Plan were transferred into the 2017 Plan allowing for the purchase of up to 61,933,640 shares, as amended, of
the Company’s common stock. Stock options generally vest over a 4-year period and expire 10 years from the date of grant. Certain options provide
for accelerated vesting if there is a change in control (as defined in the 2017 Stock Plan). Restricted stock units generally vest over a 4-year period but
require a liquidity event by the Company, as defined in the 2017 Plan agreements. Restricted stock units generally expire 7 years from the date of
grant. Certain restricted stock units provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change in control (as defined in the 2017 Plan agreements). The
Company generally issues previously unissued shares of common stock for the exercise of stock options.
As of September 30, 2019, there were 3,676,581 shares available for future grant under the 2017 Plan.
Stock Options
The Company has recorded stock-based compensation expense for stock options of $1,599 and $2,161 during the nine months ended September 30,
2019 and 2018, respectively, which is based on the number of options ultimately expected to vest. As of September 30, 2019 and 2018, there was
$1,660 and $3,866, respectively, of unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested common stock option arrangements granted under the Plan,
which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.15 and 2.18 years, respectively.
The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Expected volatility for the
Company’s common stock was determined based on an average of the historical volatility of a peer group of similar public companies. The expected
life of options granted to employees was calculated using the simplified method, which represents the average of the contractual term of the option and
the weighted-average vesting period of the option. The Company uses the simplified method because it does not have sufficient historical option
exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term. The expected life of options granted to nonemployees is equal to the
remaining contractual term as of the measurement date. The assumed dividend yield is based upon the Company’s expectation of not paying dividends
in the foreseeable future. The risk-free rate for periods within the expected life of the option is based upon the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the
time of grant.
In determining the exercise prices for options granted, the Company’s Board of Directors consider the fair value of the common stock as of the
measurement date. Based upon a variety of factors, including the results obtained from an independent third-party valuation, the Company’s financial
position and historical financial performance, the status of technological developments within the Company’s platform, the composition and ability of
the current engineering and management team, an evaluation or benchmark of the Company’s competition, the current business climate in the
marketplace, the illiquid nature of the common stock, arm’s-length sales of the Company’s capital stock (including redeemable convertible preferred
stock), the effect of the rights and preferences of the preferred stockholders, and the prospects of a liquidity event, among others.
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The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model are as follows:
September 30,
2019

Expected volatility
Weighted-average risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected life - employee awards

September 30,
2018

56.65%
2.42
—
6.01 years

57.64%
2.59
—
4.76 Years

A summary of option activity under the Plan as of September 30, 2019 and changes during the nine months then ended are as follows:

Number of
Options

Outstanding at December 31, 2018
Exercisable at December 31, 2018
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2018

39,691,362
30,230,342
38,934,480

Granted
Exercised
Forfeited and canceled
Outstanding at September 30, 2019

1,967,000
(296,984)
(5,936,981)
35,424,397

Exercisable at September 30, 2019

31,115,132

Vested or expected to vest at September 30, 2019

35,079,656

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

$

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Term

0.55
0.51
0.51

6.16
5.43
6.11

$

0.71
0.22
0.65
0.55

5.35

$

0.53

4.91

$

0.55

5.31

In February 2018, the Company modified all the then outstanding stock option grants with an exercise price above $0.68 to a new exercise price of
$0.68, which was the fair value of the common stock at the date of the modification. As a result of this modification, options to purchase 15,604,766
shares of common stock were repriced to an exercise price of $0.68 and stock-based compensation expense of $243 was recorded for the nine months
ended September 30, 2018.
The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 was $0.39 and $0.11 per
share, respectively. No tax benefits were realized from options during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018. The intrinsic value of
options exercised during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 was $143 and $839, respectively.
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Restricted Stock Units with Service and Performance-Based Vesting
During the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company granted restricted stock units (“RSUs”) subject to both service vesting
conditions of 48 months and performance-based vesting conditions of 84 months upon a liquidity event, defined as either change of control event or
initial public offering. The Company has not recorded compensation expense related to these restricted stock units during the nine months ended
September 30, 2019 and 2018 as the achievement of the performance condition is not probable.
A summary of RSU activity under the Plan as of September 30, 2019, and changes during the period then ended are as follows:

Unvested balance at December 31, 2018
Granted
Forfeited
Unvested balance at September 30, 2019

10.

Number of
Shares

Weighted
AverageFair Value

6,522,250
3,811,141
(1,067,913)
9,265,478

$
$
$
$

0.76
0.67
0.73
0.72

Employee Benefit Plan
The Company has a Section 401(k) defined contribution savings plan for its employees. The plan covers substantially all employees who meet
minimum age and service requirements and allows participants to defer a portion of their annual compensation on a pretax basis, subject to legal
limitations. Contributions to the plan may be made at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The Company has made contributions of $185 and $118
for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

11.

Commitments and Contingencies
The Company leases office facilities under noncancelable operating leases as well as an office equipment lease that expire at various dates through
July 2029. Some of these lease agreements contain escalating rent payments. Rent expense is recorded on a straight-line basis, and therefore, as of
September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company has deferred rent of $4,732 and $3,756, respectively. Rent expense was $2,873 and $2,322
for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Future minimum amounts payable as of September 30, 2019, under the operating lease agreements are as follows:
Years Ending December 31,
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments

12.

$ 1,017
3,771
3,430
3,404
3,059
15,981
$30,662

Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through November 18, 2019, the date these financial statements were issued.
The Company was in violation of the liquidity covenant within the Senior Revolving Credit Facility for the monthly period ended August 31, 2019, as
well as in violation of the liquidity and EBITDA covenant within the Senior Revolving Credit Facility for the period ended September 30, 2019. On
October 9, 2019, the Company entered into a forbearance agreement which waived the covenant violations until November 15, 2019.
On October 22, 2019, the Company entered into a Merger Agreement with Roku, Inc. for the purchase of the Company for cash and equity
consideration of $150 million. The Agreement closed on November 8, 2019. As part of the agreement, the Senior Revolving Credit Facility and the
2017 and 2019 Convertible Notes were repaid in full as part of the closing proceeds.
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Exhibit 99.3

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
On November 8, 2019, Roku, Inc. (the “Company” or “Roku”) completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Dataxu, Inc.
(“Dataxu”) (the “Acquisition”) pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 22, 2019 (the “Merger
Agreement”).
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information set forth below has been presented for informational purposes only. The pro forma
information is not necessarily indicative of what the combined company’s financial position or results of operations actually would have been had the
Acquisition been completed on the dates indicated. In addition, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not purport to
project the future financial position or operating results of the combined company.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet gives effect to the Acquisition as if it had occurred on September 30, 2019. The unaudited pro
forma condensed combined statements of operations each give effect to the Acquisition as if it had occurred on January 1, 2018 (the first day of the
Company’s fiscal year 2018).
The historical consolidated financial information has been adjusted in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements to give effect to
pro forma events that are (1) directly attributable to the Acquisition, (2) factually supportable, and (3) with respect to the statements of operations, expected
to have a continuing impact on the combined results. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. In addition, the unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial information was based on and should be read in conjunction with the following historical consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes of Roku and Dataxu for the applicable periods:
•

Audited historical consolidated financial statements of Roku as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018 and the related notes included in
Roku’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 1, 2019;

•

Audited historical consolidated financial statements of Dataxu as of the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 and for the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2018 and the related notes included in Exhibit 99.1 of this Form 8-K/A;

•

Unaudited historical consolidated financial statements of Roku as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and the related notes
included in Roku’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 8, 2019; and

•

Unaudited historical consolidated financial statements of Dataxu as of September 30, 2019 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2019
and 2018 and the related notes included in Exhibit 99.2 of this Form 8-K/A.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared using the acquisition method of accounting under the provisions of
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) Topic 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”). The
purchase price will be allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date, and any excess
value of the consideration transferred over the net assets will be recognized as goodwill. The Company has made a preliminary allocation of the purchase
price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date based on management’s preliminary valuation of the fair value of tangible and
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed using information currently available. Differences between these preliminary estimates and the final
acquisition accounting will occur and these differences could have a material impact on the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial statements and the Company’s future results of operations and financial position.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not reflect any cost savings, operating synergies or revenue enhancements that the
combined company may achieve as a result of the Acquisition, nor the costs that may be incurred to achieve such benefits.
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Roku, Inc.
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE SHEET
As of September 30, 2019
(in thousands)
Roku, Inc.
(As Reported)

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Restricted cash, current
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other
current assets
Deferred cost of revenue,
current
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Intangible assets, net
Restricted cash, net of current portion
Goodwill
Other non-current assets
Total Assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue, current
Line of credit
Convertible debt
Total current liabilities
Deferred revenue, non-current
Operating lease liabilities
Other long-term liabilities, non-current
Total Liabilities
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
Stockholders’ Equity:
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other
comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

$

$

385,999
1,496
868
196,044
73,531

Dataxu, Inc. (As
Adjusted)
(Note 1)
(Note 3)

$

5,406
—
138
39,547
—

Assets and
liabilities not
acquired

Pro Forma
Adjustments

(Note 1)

(Note 4)

$

(439)
—
—
(722)
—

$

(79,682)
—
(138)
—
—

A
B

$ 311,284
1,496
868
234,869
73,531

C

30,491

D
E
F
G
H

45
652,584
66,456
167,379
72,663
1,169
71,847
4,210
$1,036,308

28,908

2,172

(60)

(529)

45
686,891
61,878
142,110
1,061
—
1,382
3,983
897,305

—
47,263
19,676
—
—
1,811
9,457
281
78,488

—
(1,221)
(1)
—
—
—
—
(54)
(1,276)

—
(80,349)
(15,097)
25,269
71,602
(642)
61,008
—
61,791

241,519
35,912
—
—
277,431
12,932
142,134
1,031
433,528
—

$

$

12
761,883
(2)
(298,116)
463,777
$ 897,305

$

46,221
548
28,965
12,464
88,198
—
—
4,434
92,632
100,443

$

$

(246)
(63)
—
—
(309)
—
—
(20)
(329)
—

34
26,370

—
—

(3)
(140,988)
(114,587)
78,488

—
(947)
(947)
(1,276)

$

$

$

2,484
—
(28,965)
(12,464)
(38,945)
—
22,586
(4,414)
(20,773)
(100,443)
(34)
43,314

3
139,724
183,007
$ 61,791

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.
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Pro Forma
Combined

I

M

$ 289,978
36,397
—
—
326,375
12,932
164,720
1,031
505,058
—

M
N

12
831,567

J
K

E
L

M
O

(2)
(300,327)
531,250
$1,036,308

Roku, Inc.
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
For the nine months ended September 30, 2019
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Roku, Inc.
(As Reported)

Net Revenue:
Platform
Player
Total net revenue
Cost of Revenue:
Platform
Player
Total cost of revenue
Gross Profit:
Platform
Player
Total gross profit
Operating Expense:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from Operations
Other Income (Expense), Net:
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Total other income (expense), net
Loss Before Income Taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Net Loss
Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per
share:
Basic and diluted

$

481,157
236,534
717,691

Dataxu, Inc. (As
Adjusted)
(Note 1)
(Note 3)

$

77,231
—
77,231

Assets and
liabilities not
acquired

Pro Forma
Adjustments

(Note 1)

(Note 5)

$

—
—
—

$

Pro Forma
Combined

—
—
—

$ 558,388
236,534
794,922

165,419
218,695
384,114

55,838
—
55,838

(64)
—
(64)

(928)
—
(928)

A

220,265
218,695
438,960

315,738
17,839
333,577

21,393
—
21,393

64
—
64

928
—
928

A

338,123
17,839
355,962

186,219
117,041
77,992
381,252
(47,675)

8,590
22,101
8,102
38,793
(17,400)

(32)
(2,519)
(206)
(2,757)
2,821

6,118
4,802
(1,261)
9,659
(8,731)

A, B, C
A, B, C, D
A, B, C, E

200,895
141,425
84,627
426,947
(70,985)

$

(2,683)
(698)
(3,381)
(20,781)
149
(20,930)

—
33
33
2,854
(35)
2,889

2,683
375
3,058
(5,673)
—
(5,673)

F
G

$

(1,436)
4,272
2,836
(44,839)
(619)
(44,220)

$

(0.39)

$

$

$

114,064

(1,436)
3,982
2,546
(68,439)
(505)
$ (67,934)
$

(0.59)

114,712

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.
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Roku, Inc.
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year ended December 31, 2018
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Roku, Inc.
(As Reported)

Net Revenue:
Platform
Player
Total net revenue
Cost of Revenue:
Platform
Player
Total cost of revenue
Gross Profit:
Platform
Player
Total gross profit
Operating Expense:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from Operations
Other Income (Expense), Net:
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Total other income (expense), net
Loss Before Income Taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Net Loss
Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per
share:
Basic and diluted

$

416,863
325,643
742,506

Dataxu, Inc.
(As Adjusted)
(Note 1)
(Note 3)

$

142,799
—
142,799

Assets and
liabilities not
acquired

Pro Forma
Adjustments

(Note 1)

(Note 5)

$

—
—
—

$

Pro
Forma
Combined

—
—
—

$559,662
325,643
885,305

120,543
289,815
410,358

96,514
—
96,514

(125)
—
(125)

1,261
—
1,261

A

218,193
289,815
508,008

296,320
35,828
332,148

46,285
—
46,285

125
—
125

(1,261)
—
(1,261)

A

341,469
35,828
377,297

170,692
102,780
71,972
345,444
(13,296)

15,616
31,811
12,501
59,928
(13,643)

(16)
(3,926)
(443)
(4,385)
4,510

7,927
5,555
(544)
12,938
(14,199)

A, B, C
A, B, C, D
A, B, C

194,219
136,220
83,486
413,925
(36,628)

(2,956)
(774)
(3,730)
(17,373)
283
(17,656)

—
(251)
(251)
4,259
(56)
4,315

2,956
—
2,956
(11,243)
—
(11,243)

F

$

(346)
4,309
3,963
(9,333)
(476)
(8,857)

$

(0.08)

$

$

$

(346)
3,284
2,938
(33,690)
(249)
$ (33,441)
$

104,618

(0.32)

105,215

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
1.

Description of Transaction and Basis of Presentation

On November 8, 2019, Roku, Inc. (“Roku” or “Company”), through Delaware Acquisition Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”), consummated the previously announced acquisition of Dataxu, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Target” or
“Dataxu”), pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 22, 2019, by and among the Company, Merger Sub, Target and Shareholder
Representative Services LLC, as Stockholder Representative, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement and Plan of Merger on November 8, 2019
(as so amended, the “Merger Agreement”). Under the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub merged with and into Target, with Target surviving and becoming a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger”). At the closing of the Merger, the Company paid aggregate consideration of $75 million in cash
(before adjustments as specified within the merger agreement) and 571,459 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock (the “Class A Common Stock”)
to existing Target securityholders.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations illustrate the effects of the Acquisition as if it had been completed on January 1,
2018 and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet reflects the effects of the Acquisition as if it had been completed on September 30,
2019. The historical consolidated financial information has been adjusted to give pro forma effect to events that are: (i) directly attributable to the
Acquisition, (ii) factually supportable, and (iii) with respect to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations, expected to have a
continuing impact. The pro forma adjustments are preliminary and based on estimates of the purchase consideration and estimates of fair value and useful
lives of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
ASC Topic 805 requires, among other things, that assets and liabilities acquired be recognized at their fair values as of the acquisition date. Consolidated
financial statements of Roku issued after completion of the Acquisition will reflect such fair values, measured as of the acquisition date, which will be
different than the preliminary estimated fair values included in these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. These differences could
have a material impact on the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements and the Company’s future results of operations
and financial position.
The audited and unaudited historical consolidated financial statements of Dataxu include balances attributable to certain foreign entities that were not
acquired by Roku. The use of audited consolidated financial statements of an entire consolidated entity where only selected parts of an entity are acquired
and those acquired parts represent substantially all of the selling entity is in accordance with published SEC observations. The adjustments included in the
column “Assets and Liabilities Not Acquired” in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet and statements of operations represent the
assets that were not acquired/liabilities not assumed in connection with the Acquisition along with the corresponding revenues and expenses.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared using Roku’s significant accounting policies as set forth in its
audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. Certain reclassification and preliminary accounting policy alignment
adjustments have been made in order to conform the Dataxu historical consolidated financial statements to Roku’s financial statement presentation. Refer to
Note 3—Accounting Policy Alignment and Reclassifications for more details.
2.

Estimated Purchase Consideration and Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation

The estimated preliminary purchase price is as follows:
Estimated Purchase Consideration

(in thousands)

Cash consideration
Shares of Roku capital stock (i)

$
$

(i)

80,462
69,684
150,146

Equity portion of purchase price calculation is based on the issuance of 571,459 shares multiplied by the closing stock price of $121.94 on
November 8, 2019.
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The table below represents the preliminary purchase price allocation based on estimates, assumptions, valuations and other analyses as of September 30,
2019, that have not been finalized in order to make a definitive allocation. Accordingly, the pro forma adjustments to allocate the purchase consideration will
remain preliminary until management finalizes the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The final amounts allocated to assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are dependent upon certain valuations and other studies that have not yet been completed, and as previously stated could differ materially
from the amounts presented in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.
The total preliminary estimated purchase consideration as shown in the table above is allocated to the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities of Dataxu
based on their estimated fair values as if the Acquisition had occurred on September 30, 2019, which is the assumed acquisition date for purposes of the
unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet:
Assets acquired

(in thousands)

Current assets
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets
Restricted cash, net of current portion
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Other long-term assets
Total assets acquired
Liabilities assumed
Current liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Total liabilities assumed
Net assets acquired, excluding goodwill
Total preliminary purchase consideration
Goodwill

$

$

45,513
4,578
71,602
1,811
25,269
227
149,000
46,733
22,586
69,319
79,681
150,146
70,465

As of the closing date of the Acquisition, the recorded value of intangible assets will be adjusted for the preliminary purchase price allocation. The fair value
and useful lives assigned to the identifiable intangible assets have been estimated based on preliminary assumptions. These estimated fair values and useful
lives are considered preliminary and are subject to change at the closing date of the Acquisition. Any change in the amount of the final purchase price
allocated to amortizable, definite-lived intangible assets could materially affect the carrying amount and related amortization expense of such assets. The fair
value of working capital, fixed assets, and other long-term assets approximate their carrying values, thus no adjustments to arrive at fair value are reflected.
In connection with the acquisition of Dataxu, a deferred tax liability was established for the book/tax differences related tonon-goodwill intangible assets.
The deferred tax liability is not reflected as Roku also acquired deferred tax assets, including significant net operating losses, that offset the deferred tax
liability. Additionally, both Roku and Dataxu have full valuation allowances recorded against their respective deferred tax assets, resulting in a net zero
adjustment to deferred taxes on the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet.
Management is still assessing the tax impact of the Acquisition and is performing a Section 382 analysis. The deferred tax liability resulting from the
acquisition to the extent it exceeds acquired deferred tax assets may result in a release of some of the valuation allowance which would create a tax benefit.
Given that this analysis is still in its preliminary stages any tax benefit that may be realized as a result of the acquisition is not contemplated by the
unaudited pro forma financial statements.
3.

Accounting Policy Alignment and Reclassifications

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared using Roku’s significant accounting policies as set forth in its
audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. Based on the procedures performed to date, the accounting policies of
Dataxu are similar in most material respects to Roku’s accounting policies with the exception of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02
“Leases (topic 842)” (“ASC 842”), ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customer (topic 606) (“ASC 606”) and “Other Assets and Deferred
Costs” (“ASC 340”) , which Dataxu had not yet been required to adopt as it was a private company. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
statements include an adjustment to reflect the adoption of ASC 842 and ASC 606. Refer to Notes 4(E) and 5(D) for more details.
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In addition, certain historical consolidated financial statement line items of Dataxu were renamed or reclassified in order to conform to Roku’s presentation,
as follows:
•

Capitalized software development costs, net was reclassified as Property and equipment, net

•

Accrued expenses and Accounts payable were reclassified as Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

•

Deferred rent was reclassified as Other long-term liabilities

As more information becomes available, we will complete a more detailed review of Dataxu’s accounting policies. As a result of that review, differences
could be identified between the accounting policies of the two companies that, when conformed, could have a material impact on the combined results and
financial position.
4.

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet Adjustments
A.

Reflects (1) the cash consideration paid in connection with the close of the Acquisition and (2) other cash adjustments, as follows (in
thousands):
Cash consideration paid
Settlement of historical indebtedness (i)
Settlement of convertible notes (ii)
Dataxu management retention payment (iii)
Cash consideration distributed
Settlement of outstanding Dataxu transaction costs

$(30,830)
(9,187)
(17,250)
(20,226)
(2,969)
$(80,462)

Other cash adjustments
Historical Dataxu restricted cash reclassified to cash and cash equivalents
Reflects cash that is restricted as collateral for letters of credit
Pro forma adjustment

$ 1,949
(1,169)
$(79,682)

i.

Primarily reflects the settlement of the line of credit and accrued compensation.

ii.

The aggregate consideration required to settle Dataxu’s outstanding convertible debt was $33.7 million, which included a success fee of
$21.3 million, which was settled in cash and shares of Roku capital stock. This payment of cash consideration represents cash portion of
the success fee.

iii.

Represents a bonus that was paid to certain Dataxu management personnel to retain them until the close of the Acquisition.

B.

Reflects the reclassification of Restricted cash, current portion to cash and cash equivalents upon Acquisition.

C.

Represents the net adjustment to Prepaid expenses and other current assets (in thousands):
Elimination of prepaid rent
Elimination of deferred financing costs
Adjustment to Prepaid expenses and other current assets

$(297)
(232)
$(529)

D.

Reflects the elimination of the book value of Dataxu’s historical capitalized internal use software as this software was recorded at fair value
within Intangible assets, net. Refer to note 4(F).

E.

Reflects the preliminary estimated impact of adopting ASC 842. The operating lease liability of $25.3 million, of which $2.7 million is
classified as current (refer to Note 4(I) below), and corresponding right of use asset were measured using the present value of the remaining
lease payments using Roku’s incremental borrowing rate of 4.24%. This estimated impact is preliminary and does not purport to represent
what the operating lease liability or right of use asset would have been had the Acquisition been completed on September 30, 2019.
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F.

Represents the estimated fair values of identified intangible assets that were acquired based on a preliminary purchase price allocation (in
thousands):
Estimated Fair
Value

Developed technology
Customer relationships
Tradenames
Backlog
In-place lease intangible
Estimated fair value of acquired intangible assets
G.

$

$

Estimated
Useful Lives

48,500
15,000
7,000
1,000
102
71,602

6
4
6
1
3

Represents the net adjustment to Restricted cash, net of current portion as follows (in thousands):
Restricted cash distributed to Dataxu shareholders
Reflects cash that is restricted as collateral for letters of credit
Net adjustment to Restricted cash, net of current portion

$(1,811)
1,169
$ (642)

H.

Reflects the Goodwill to be recorded based on the preliminary purchase price allocation and elimination of Dataxu’spre-acquisition goodwill.

I.

Represents the net adjustment to Accounts payable and accrued liabilities calculated as follows (in thousands):
Recognition of current portion of operating lease liability
Elimination of the current portion of deferred rent
Settlement of embedded derivative related to convertible notes
Settlement of accrued interest in connection with the payoff of indebtedness
Accrual of severance expense
Settlement of accrued compensation
Accrual of Dataxu transaction costs
Accrual of Roku transaction costs
Net adjustment to Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$ 2,683
(298)
(825)
(172)
36
(1,462)
311
2,211
$ 2,484

J.

Reflects the repayment of the outstanding principal amount on Dataxu’s line of credit.

K.

Reflects the settlement of Dataxu’s convertible notes in connection with the transaction. As a result of the change in control, a success fee of
$21.3 million was also payable and settled by Roku resulting in an aggregate of $33.7 million to settle the convertible notes. $9.2 million of
the aggregate balance was paid in cash and the remainder was settled in shares of Roku capital stock as part of purchase consideration.

L.

Reflects the elimination of the non-current portion of deferred rent of Dataxu as this does not represent a liability to the combined company.

M.

Represents the elimination of Dataxu’s historical Redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity.

N.

Represents the net adjustment to Additional paid-in capital calculated as follows (in thousands):
Elimination of Dataxu’s historical additional paid-in capital
Issuance of Roku shares as purchase consideration
Net adjustment to Additional paid-in capital
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$(26,370)
69,684
$ 43,314

O.

Represents the net adjustment to Accumulated deficit calculated as follows (in thousands):
Elimination of Dataxu’s historical accumulated deficit
Elimination of Dataxu’s accumulated deficit charge related to foreign entities not acquired
Roku transaction costs charged to accumulated deficit (i)
Net adjustment to Accumulated deficit

(i)

5.

$140,988
947
(2,211)
$139,724

No adjustment was made to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations as the transaction costs do not have a
continuing impact.

Unaudited Pro forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations Adjustments:
A.

Reflects the additional amortization expense related to the estimated step-up to fair value of intangible assets as follows (in thousands):

Eliminate Dataxu amortization expense
Cost of revenue (i)
New amortization expense
Cost of revenue (i)
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

Nine months ended
September 30, 2019

Year ended
December 31, 2018

$

$

Pro forma amortization adjustment
Cost of revenue (i)
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
$
(i)

(3,959)

(3,781)

3,031
3,031
3,688
26
9,776

5,042
4,042
4,917
34
14,035

(928)
3,031
3,688
26
5,817

1,261
4,042
4,917
34
10,254

$

Amortization expense classified within Cost of revenue includes amortization of backlog and developed technology. Backlog has an estimated
useful life of one year. As a result, the adjustment reflected on the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the
year ended December 31, 2018 is greater than the adjustment reflected for the nine months ended September 30, 2019.
An increase or decrease of 10% in the estimated fair value of intangible assets would result in an increase or decrease of $1.0 million and
$1.4 million of amortization expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and for the year ended December 31, 2018, respectively.

B.

In connection with the Acquisition, Roku will grant 250,676 restricted stock units to employees of Dataxu at an estimated grant date fair value
of $121.94 per share. The majority of the awards will vest evenly over 4 years. This adjustment reflects the elimination of historical stockbased compensation expense related to Dataxu’s existing equity awards and reflects new stock-based compensation expense based on the
preliminary estimated fair values and vesting periods (in thousands):

Eliminate Dataxu historical stock-based compensation
expense
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

Nine months ended
September 30, 2019

Year ended
December 31, 2018

$

$

New stock-based compensation expense
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Pro forma stock-based compensation adjustment
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
$
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(386)
(606)
(607)
(1,599)

(797)
(908)
(1,009)
(2,714)

3,467
2,130
305
5,902

4,622
2,842
405
7,869

3,081
1,524
(302)
4,303

3,825
1,934
(604)
5,155

$

C.

Reflects the increase to rent expense under ASC 842 assuming all leases commenced on January 1, 2018 (in thousands):

Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

Nine months
ended
September 30,
2019

Year ended
December 31,
2018

$

$

6
16
2
24

$

$

60
216
26
302

D.

Reflects a reduction of $0.4 million and $1.5 million to Sales and marketing expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and for
the year ended December 31, 2018, respectively, related to the impact of capitalizing sales commissions in accordance with ASC 606 and
ASC 340. This adjustment only reflects the preliminary estimated impact of aligning Dataxu’s accounting policies to those of Roku. The
adjustment does not purport to project or forecast the future impact to Sales and marketing expense, nor does it purport to align Dataxu’s
commission structure to that of Roku for the periods presented. Other impacts of reflecting Dataxu’s historical results under ASC 606 were not
material.

E.

Reflects the elimination of approximately $1.0 million of transaction costs from the pro forma statements of operations for the nine months
ended September 30, 2019 as they are not expected to have a continuing impact.

F.

Reflects the elimination of interest expense related to the line of credit and convertible notes.

G.

Reflects the elimination of the loss associated with the change in fair value of the embedded derivative.

H.

Due to the Company’s history of net operating losses in the jurisdictions in which it operates, the pro forma tax expense adjustment is
comprised solely of the tax impact related to the disposition of certain foreign entities of Dataxu. Aside from the tax impact related to this
disposition, the Company’s blended rate is estimated to be zero.

I.

The unaudited pro forma combined basic and diluted earnings per share calculations are based on the basic and diluted weighted-average
outstanding shares of Roku, after giving effect to (1) the issuance of shares of Class A Common Stock issued as purchase consideration as if
the Class A Common Stock were issued on January 1, 2018 and (2) Roku RSU awards that will be granted to employees of Dataxu that would
have vested during the periods presented, assuming the RSU awards were issued on January 1, 2018. The unaudited pro forma basic and
diluted earnings per share were calculated as follows:
Nine months ended
September 30, 2019

Year ended
December 31, 2018

114,064
77

104,618
26

571
114,712

571
105,215

Pro Forma Weighted Average Shares (Basic) (in
thousands)
Historical weighted average shares outstanding
RSUs awards vested during periods presented
Shares of Class A Common Stock issued as purchase
consideration
Pro forma basic weighted average shares
Pro Forma Earnings per Share
Pro forma net loss (in thousands)

$

(67,934)

$

(33,441)

Pro forma basic and diluted earnings per share

$

(0.59)

$

(0.32)
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